USARTL-TR -78-32

LEVE

ASSESSMENT OF AUGMENTED ELECTRONIC FUEL CONTROLS FOR MODULAR ENGINE DIAGNOSTICS AND CONDITION MONITORING

Daniel R. Gilmore, Jr., Harold J. Jordon, Alan D. Pisano

Contend Electric Company Aircraft Engine Group 1000 Western Avenue Lynn, Mass. 01910 December 1978

Final Report for Period September 1977 - June 1978

Approved for public release; distribution unlimited.

Prepared for APPLIED TECHNOLOGY LABORATORY U. S. ARMY RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY LABORATORIES (AVRADCOM) Fort Eustis, Va. 23604

APPLIED TECHNOLOGY LABORATORY POSITION STATEMENT

The work reported herein is part of a continuing effort of the Applied Technology Laboratory, US Army Research and Technology Laboratories (AVRADCOM), to conduct investigations directed toward advancing the state of the art of diagnostics for Army aircraft. Technological advances continue to afford the Army the opportunity to improve the maintenance and support requirements for gas turbine engines. It is the intent of this organization to apply these technologies in a timely, productive, and cost-effective manner.

The object of this particular effort was to establish the requirements and to define the approaches to be used to include condition monitoring and on-condition maintenance features in the design of advanced electronic control systems for helicopter turboshaft engines. Although the investigation is considered to be generic in nature, the General Electric T700 gas turbine engine was used to derive real world experience and to evaluate applicability to an existing Army helicopter gas turbine engine. The T700 engine is being employed on the Army's UH-60A BLACK HAWK helicopter (Sikorsky) and on the advanced attack helicopter (AAH) under development by Hughes Helicopters.

The findings of this report are being used to identify the parameters necessary for fault isolating the module and line replaceable unit (LRU) level and to assess the impact of integrating diagnostic and condition monitoring (D&CM) functions with a full authority digital electronic fuel control.

Although it has been shown that fault isolation by means of an electronic diagnostic system is feasible, it has not yet been established that the D&CM system to accomplish diagnostics would be cost effective. Future efforts are planned to assess the cost effectiveness and to conduct trade-off studies of potential engine D&CM systems and their impact on Army aviation maintenance philosophies.

The technical monitor for this contract was Mr. G. William Hogg, Aeronautical Systems Division.

DISCLAIMERS

The findings in this report are not to be construed as an official Department of the Army position unless so designated by other authorized documents.

When Government drawings, specifications, or other data are used for any purpose other than in connection with a definitely related Government procurement operation, the United States Government thereby incurs no responsibility nor any obligation whatsoever; and the fact that the Government may have formulated, furnished, or in any way supplied the said drawings, specifications, or other data is not to be regarded by implication or otherwise as in any memory is holder or any other person or corporation, or conveying any rights or permission, to manufacture, use, or sell any patented invention that may in any way be related thereto.

Trade names cited in this report do not constitute an official endorsement or approval of the use of such commercial hardware or software.

DISPOSITION INSTRUCTIONS

Destroy this report when no longer needed. Do not return it to the originator,

Unclassified SECURITY CLASSFICATION OF THIS PAGE (When Date 1	Entered)		
REPORT DOCUMENTATION	PAGE	READ INSTRUCTIONS BEFORE COMPLETING FORM]
J. REPORT WUBER	2. GOVT ACCESSION N	BEFORE CONFEETING FORM	1
UISARTI TR-78-32		(\mathbf{Y})	
A. TITLE (and Submits)		S. TYPE OF REPORT & PERIOD COVERED-	1
ASSESSMENT OF AUGMENTED FUE	CONTRACTOR AND	N. M.	
ASSESSMENT OF AUGMENTED ELE	DIACNOSTICE	FINAL ^A September 77 - June 1978	
AND CONDITION MODULAR ENGINE	DIAGNOSTICS	F. PERFORMING ORG. REPORT NUMBER	
7. HOTHOMEN		8. CONTRACT OR GRANT NUMBER(+)	1
Daniel R. Gilmore, Jr. Harold J. Jordan		DAAJ02-77-C-0065 MU	
Alan D. /Pisano		IF PREGRAM ELEMENT, PROJECT, TASK	4
General Electric Company, Aircraft	Engine Group	16 WORK UNIT NUMBERS	
1000 Western Avenue	ν ν	62209A 11262209AH76	
Lynn, Massachusetts 01910		00218Ek	
11. CONTROLLING OFFICE NAME AND ADDRESS Applied Technology Laboratory U.S. Army Research & Technology I	aborntoriae 11	Decominants 11	07
Fort Eustis, Virginia 23604 (AVRA	DCOM	148	
14. MONITORING AGENCY MAME & ADDRESS(I dillerent	from Controlling Office)	15. SECURITY CLASS, (of this report)	1
10/1-0	/		
	/	Unclassified	
		SCHEDULE	
16. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of this Report)		- J	
Approved for public release; distribution	n unlimited.		
T. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the desired of the sector of	n Diocx 40, il Gillerani n		
18. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES			
19. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary and	i identify by block numbe	9	
Controls, Digital Electronics, T700 I Monitoring, Kalman-Bucy Filter.	Engine, Diagnost	ics, Condition	
20. ABSTRACT (Continue on reverse side if necessary and	identify by block number	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Fault isolation to the module and line nostic and Condition Monitoring (D&C Electronic Control (FADEC) is evalua the D&CM system parameters require current T700 engine is also included i	replaceable unit M) System integrated in this study ed for performing in the study.	(LRU) level by means of a Large- cated with a Full-Authority Regard . A preliminary assessment of g the diagnostic functions on the	
DD FORM 1472	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	
UU 1 JAN 73 14/3 EDITION OF 1 NOV 65 IS OBSOLE	ETEU1	classified	
	SECURITY CL.	ASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE (When Date Entered)	-
		})
4 - = 2 - 1			

Unclassified

SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE(When Date Entered)

A T700 functional baseline FADEC control design was established which contained approximately 70% of the parameters planned for diagnostics and condition monitoring. An integral part of the GE FADEC system is Failure Indication and Corrective Action (FICA), based on extended Kalman-Bucy filtering techniques. An important part of this study was to adapt FICA to a turboshaft engine. This effort showed by computer simulation that the system could detect single and multiple control sensor failures, and could make corrections which would permit continued satisfactory engine operation by the use of simulated control sensor signals estimated by FICA. Indication of failed sensors by FICA and indication of computer failures through self-test provide inherently significant D&CM capability. The FICA system also calculates intermediate engine parameters, such as T3 and T4.1, allowing more complex hot part life calculations.

General Electric's (GE's) experience with the T700-GE-700 turbotian aftengine and other engine condition monitoring activities was used to determine the diagnostic functions desired. Fault isolation to the LRU and module levels is discussed and preliminary lists of parameters required for implementation on both FADEC and non-FADEC-equipped engines are provided. Further study and analysis, however, is necessary to verify the system effectiveness.

Integration of the FADEC and D& CM systems at the outset of the control design provides the potential for maintenance payoffs associated with D& CM at reduced development and procurement cost. It is concluded in this report that:

- 1. The FADEC system can inherently accomplish the D&CM functions of engine history calculations, detection of most control sensor failures, and detection of some control system failures.
- 2. The FADEC system should accomilish all D&CM signal processing except vibrations.
- D&CM functions such as a HIT check, tracking oil pressure and detection of overtemperature, filter bypasses, and chip detection indications should be integrated into FADEC.

To continue the momentum of this program, it is recommended that the following steps be taken in the near future:

- 1. A detailed study (to be followed by a test phase) of a D&CM system to achieve the specific goal of fault t - stion to the Module and LNU layer for a 1700 Engine on-the-wing in a cost effective manner.
- A digital, engine-mounted history recorder containing important bisic cloments should be designed, fabricated, and engine tested to demonstrate int_gration of engine history and balth in a unit using FADEC technology.
- 3. A study should be initiated to increase FADEC system ability to detect and provide corrective action for control system failures not detected by FICA or self-test, thereby increasing DECM capability.

Unclassified SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PACE/1906 One Entered

TABLE OF CONTENTS

-

. З

ある

ł

ί

	Page
LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS	6
LIST OF TABLES	9
INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY	10
TASK I - DIAGNOSTIC FUNCTION IDENTIFICATION	13
PRELIMINARY PARAMETER SELECTION FOR FAULT DETECTION AND ISOLATION OF CURRENT PRODUCTION T700 LINE RE-	N
PLACEABLE UNITS AND MODULES	13
MODULES	15
LINE REPLACEABLE UNITS (LRU'S)	17
T700-GE-700 ENGINE FIELD FAILURE ANALYSIS	20
GENERAL ELECTRIC MODULAR REPLACEMENT EXPERIENCE.	22
T700-GE-700 ENGINE CONDITION MONITORING EXPERIENCE	28
SUMMARY OF RECENT GENERAL ELECTRIC ENGINE CONDITION MONITORING (ECM) ACTIVITIES	I 31
DIAGNOSTIC FUNCTION CATEGORIES AND EVALUATION	37
TASK II - DIAGNOSTIC METHODS IDENTIFICATION	40
TURBOSHAFT DIAGNOSTIC METHODS	41
DIAGNOSTIC METHODS CATEGORIES	47
TASK III - DIAGNOSTIC APPLICATION	48
INDICATION OF ENGINE HEALTH (PERFORMANCE) WITHOUT GROUND TIEDOWN TEST OR HIT CHECK FLICHTS	48
3	

i

۰. !

2 :

TABLE OF CONTENTS - Continued

FUEL CONTROL SYSTEM FAULT DETECTION AND ISOLATION CAPABILITY TO LINE REPLACEABLE UNIT (LRU) LEVEL	54
LOW CYCLE FATIGUE AND HOT PART MONITORING	62
STORAGE OF FLIGHT EVENTS FOR GROUND TROUBLE- SHOOTING ANALYSIS TO THE MODULE AND LRU LEVEL	66
STORAGE OF MISSION CYCLE DATA FOR ANALYSIS	67
TASK IV - FULL AUTHORITY DIGITAL ELECTRONIC CONTROL	
(FADEC) DESIGN IDENTIFICATION	69
FADEC SYSTEM ·····	69
SIMULATION ·····	77
FADEC HARDWARE	78
TASK V - FAILURE INDICATION AND CORRECTIVE ACTION (FICA).	80
OVERVIEW	80
TECHNICAL CONSIDERATIONS	81
SUMMARY OF FICA OPERATION	91
NONLINEAR SIMULATION AND RESULTS	93
AREAS OF ADDITIONAL STUDY	98
CONCLUSIONS OF TASK V	124
RECOMMENDATIONS OF TASK V	124
TASK VI - VADEC DIAGNOSTIC SYSTEM DESIGN INTERFACE	126
IDENTIFICATION OF D&CM OBJECTIVES AND THEIR IMPACT ON FADEC	126

Page

TABLE OF CONTENTS - Continued

IDENTIFICATION OF CANDIDATE PARAMETERS AS	
RELATED TO FADEC	
INTEGRATION WITH FADEC - BUILDING BLOCK APPROACH	[
TASK VII – SENSOR DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS	• • •
CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	• • •
CONCLUSIONS	
RECOMMENDATIONS	• • •
REFERENCES	
GLOSSARY OF TERMS	
·	

ź

の日本の教育

ŝ

5

ŝ

ş

LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

<u>Figure</u>		Page
1	Modular Maintainability - T700	27
2	Horsepower versus Measured Low-Pressure Turbine Inlet Temperature – <u>System A</u>	50
3	FADEC-D&CM Computer Diagnostic Logic Function	51
4	Long-Term Trend Analysis Logic	51
5	Torque versus Low-Pressure Turbine Inlet Temp- erature – <u>System B</u>	52
6	Torque versus Compressor Inlet Temperature – <u>System C</u>	53
7	Troubleshooting - Steady-State, Idle	55
8	Example of Fault Tree With Listing of LBU's	57
9	Example of Logic Diagram	59
10	PS3 LCF Count	64
11	NG LCF Count	65
12	T700 Control System	72
13	1700 FADEC Control System	73
14	FADEC Logic Diagram	75
15	Microprocesse" Schematic	79
16	Station Identification	84

LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS (Cont)

Figure		Page
17	FICA Flowchart	92
18	Run 100.00 - FICA Open Loop	100
19	Run 100.00 - FICA Open Loop	101
20	Run 100.00 - FICA Open Loop	102
21	Run 100.01 - 5-Second Burst - No Sensor Failures	103
22	Run 100, 01 - 5-Second Burst - No Sensor Failures	104
23	Run 100.01 - 5-Second Burst - No Sensor Feilures	105
24	Run 100, 02 - 2-Second Burst - No Sensor Failures	106
25	Run 100, 02 - 2-Second Burst - No Sensor Failures	; j7
26	Run 100, 02 - 2-Second Burst - No Sønsor Failures	108
27	Run 100.03 - 2-Second Burst - NG Sensor Failure	169
28	Run 100, 04 - 2-Second Burst - NP Sensor Failure	110
29	Run 100.05 - 2-Second Burst - T4.5 Sensor Failure	111
30	Run 100.05 - 2-Second Burst - T4.5 Sensor Failure	112
31	Run 100.06 - 2-Second Burst - ZWF Sensor Failure	113
32	Run 100.07 - 2-Second Burst - PS3 Sensor Failure	114
33	Run 100, 08 – 2–Second Burst – NG and PS3 Sensor Failure	115
34	Run 100, 09 – 2–Second Burst – NG, ZWF and PS3 Sensor Failures	116

LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS (Cont)

Figure		Page
35	Run 200.00 - 2-Second Burst - SL RPR = 1.2 - No Failures	117
36	Run 200.00 - 2-Second Burst - SL RPR = 1.2 - No Failures	118
37	Run 200.00 - 2-Second Burst - SL RPR = 1.2 - No Failures	119
38	Run 200.01 - 2-Second Burst - 20,000 Feet RPR = 1.2 - No Failures	120
39	Run 200.01 - 2-Second Burst - 20,000 Feet RPR = 1.2 - No Failures	121
40	Run 200.01 - 2-Second Burst - 20,000 Feet RPR = 1.2 - No Failures	122
41	Run 200. 02 - 2-Second Burst - 20, 000 Feet RPR = 1.2 - NP Sensor Failure	123
42	System 1 - FADEC With Engine History Recorder (EHR) ,	132
43	Systom 2 - Baseline System - FADEC, FICA, EHR, HAT, PM, and Fault Detection (FD)	133
44	System 3 – "Full House" System With FADEC, FICA, EHR HIT, FD, and Base Shop Fault Isolation	• 134
45	System 4 - "Full House" System With Flight Line Rea Lat- FADEC, FICA, EHR, HIT, FD, FI, and Base Shop Printout	- 135

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1	RELIABILITY COMPARISON	10
2	MAINTENANCE INDEX COMPARISON	11
3	MINIMUM CANDIDATE PARAMETERS FOR LRU & MODULE FAULT DETECTION AND ISOLATION - NONFADEC T700	14
4	D&CM PRIORITY LIST FOR LRU'S	18
5	DISTRIBUTION OF T700-GE-700 ENGINE FAILURE EVENTS	21
6	MATURE T700 PREDICTED FAILURE RATES VERSUS MEASURED REMOVAL RATES AT ELIGHT TEST	0.0
n		23
•	MEASURED PARAMETER IMPROVEMENTS	28
8	GENERAL ELECTRIC ENGINE CONDITION MONITORING (ECM) ACTIVITIES	- 32
9	DIAGNOSTIC FUNCTION CATEGORIES AND EVALUATION	37
10	DISTRIBUTION OF D&CM EVENTS	40
11	DIAGNOSTIC METHOD CATEGORIES	47
12	CANDIDATE PARAMETERS FOR FUEL CONTROL SYSTEM MONITORING	86
13	CONTROL SYSTEM FUNCTIONS	70
14	CANDIDATE FADEC AND DECM SIGNALS	71
15	COMPUTER RUN INDEX	95
16	ARMY FADEC-D&CM BUILDING BLOCK SYSTEM CONCEPT	127
17	STATUS OF SENSORS REQUIRED FOR FADEC/ D&CM	178

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY

The Army's emphasis on improved maintainability, reliability, and life-cycle costs for its fleet of new 1700 turboshaft engines has resulted in dramatic improvements. Modularity in the basic engine design which permits major assemblies such as the gas generator or power turbine to be replaced in the field, elimination of rigging and trimming after accessory replacements, and remarkable improvements in the remove-and-replace times for key control and accessories Line Replaceable Units (LRU's) are achievements already accomplished. The benefits of these maintainability features, however, may be further enhanced if the Army's ability to correctly identify the faulty engine module or LRU can be improved. This report describes two means of improving the LRU and module fault detection and isolation: (1) adoption of a Full-Authority Digital Electronic Control (FADEC) with built-in D&CM capability, and (2) integration of advance electronic condition monitoring with existing engine control systems.

The digital computation used in a FADEC system allows the use of bailt-in failure indication and corrective action (FICA) circuits to enhance control system reliability without the use of redundant sensors. The predicted reliability of the proposed FADEC approach can be compared to that of the present T700-GE-700 engine* control system by looking at the maintenance removals. Due to the simplification of the hydromechanical unit (HMU), and any other features such as the self-testing of the electronic control unit (ECU), significant reductions in maintenance removals can be predicted (see Table 1).

a në në Bangar Në sa në Kanang Sandang të të popëritë të shkënë për kanën kanën kanën kanën kanën kanën kanën Në në të bangar Në sa në Kanang Sandang të të popëritë të shkënë për kanën kanën kanën kanën kanën kanën kanën k	Mai	ntenance Re	movals por 10, 995 Engine Flight Hours
Component	T700 Eagine	FADEC System	Remarks
Hydromèchanical Unit (HMU)	4.3	1,3	FADEC HMU less complex and less susceptible to contamination.
Electrical Control Unit (ECU)	2.2	1, 5	FADEC ECU benefits from digital schedule computations, temperature compatible materials, automated assembly, and self-testing.
Engine History Recorder (EHR)	0.7	0.5	FADEC ECU incorporates the Engine History Recorder electronic section.
Sequence Valvé (SV)	1.3	1.3	No change.

*1700 refers to the 1700-GE-700 engine throughout this report.

御御をまたい ちょうい

This improved reliability level can be translated to a reduction in maintenance for these same components, as shown in Table 2.

TABLE 2. MAINTENANCE	INDEX COMPARE	SON
	Man-Hour Engine F	rs per 10,000 light Hours
	T700	FADEC
Component	Engine	System
Hydromechanical Unit (HMU)	153	22
Electrical Control Unit (ECU)	365	208
Engine History Recorder (EHR)	67	28
Sequence Valve (SV)	<u> 31 </u>	31
Total Control System	616	289

These comparisons show that the FADEC can ultimately improve the overall engine control system reliability and maintainability. This significant impact is increased by the system weight and cost reduction due to the fact that much of the needed D&CM sensors and computational capability is provided free in a FADEC-based system.

This study was an investigation of the requirements to accomplish D&CM objectives in the presence of the expanded number of available signals provided for future FADEC applications. With FADEC, every engine sensor signal required for control system operation is available in a usable digital format and available in one location for diagnostic use. In addition to providing more signals for engine diagnostics, the FADEC system has a failure indication and corrective action (FICA) capability. The FICA strategy for turboshaft application is defined in the study.

Preliminary estimates indicate that as many as 33 engine parameters may be required to detect and isolate to the LRU and module level the most common faults predicted to occur in service with either the current T700 engine or a future FADEC-equipped T700. The FADEC-equipped engine, however, would have 21 of these signals available in digital form, 4 in analog form and would require only 8 new sensors. The current T700 engine has 16 analog signals that could be made available for D&CM, would require 17 new sensors and, of course, has no digital signals. In addition, at least ten of the available analog signals would require electrical circuit isolation. Because of the extensive engine and off-engine hardware and software that may be required for module and LRU fault isolation, detailed trade studies are required to provide data for sound decisions on the degree to which electronic fault isolation can be accomplished within practical and economic limits.

The need for additional sensor development was studied and though all sensors for FADEC development are available, recommendations are made for the development of several special sensors as well as for cost reduction of digital pressure transducers.

TASK I - DIAGNOSTIC FUNCTION IDENTIFICATION

Engine diagnostic and condition monitoring systems mounted on board aircraft are implemented in a variety of designs for both military and commercial aircraft. These systems are designed to detect incipient failures, measure life used, troubleshoot and identify faulty modules or components, and detect mechanical and performance degradation.

Because the military aircraft D&CM environment is different from the commercial in almost every aspect, the military services are developing their own D&CM concepts by performing studies and building and flying development systems. General Electric is contributing to these efforts under contracts with all three services. The information contained in this report utilizes this ongoing GE-Military D&CM experience.

PRELIMINARY PARAMETER SELECTION FOR FAULT DETECTION AND ISOLATION OF CURRENT PRODUCTION T700 LINE REPLACEABLE UNITS AND MODULES

Table 3 is a preliminary or candidate list of the engine and aircraft parameters believed necessary for LRU and modular fault detection and isolation to a high degree of effectiveness. Detailed studies and analyses are required to develop a more definitive parameter listing and a quantitative measure of diagnostic effectiveness for a D&CM system using the listed or similar parameters. It should be pointed out that because engine faults detectable only by visual inspection (which includes borescopy) can comprise 10-15% of all engine field events requiring maintenance actions, electronic diagnostic systems cannot be expected to detect and isolate more than 85-90% of the field or organizational level failures. Effectiveness of Fault Detection (FD) and Fault Isolation (FI) is defined as follows:

$$FD\% = \frac{No. \text{ of failure events detected correctly by } D\&CM \times 100}{No. \text{ of actual failures experienced}}$$

Figs = No. of failure events that have occurred x 100
No. of maint. actions to correct
$$^{\bullet}$$

*A maintenance action can be an engine, component, or module replacement or adjustment.

A further refinement can be made if it is specified that only events resulting in an in-flight power loss – automatic or voluntary (by pilot action) – are to be considered. Such a restriction would tend to make any D&CM system appear to be more effective in Fault Detection.

MINIMUM CANDIDATE PARAMETERS FOR LRU & MODULE FAULT DETECTION AND ISOLATION - NONFADEC 7700 TABLE 3.

.

1

н н н н н h	0	<u>n</u> ∎ 4 ⊶ 10	15	•	8	21	a = #			POTALS
н н A	_			L	×		<u>ଖ</u> ×	<u>r</u>	A T	Fuel Temp.
н n n		н					ж	4	72	Vibes, -Exh.
Н N N		ĸ	ĸ			¥®	ରି ×	2	св	Customer Bleed-On/OU
н н L83 Сошо учи н н A <th< td=""><td>コ</td><td>×</td><td>н</td><td></td><td></td><td>€ĸ.</td><td>×</td><td>٨</td><td>MŁ</td><td>Lois Flore</td></th<>	コ	×	н			€ĸ.	×	٨	MŁ	Lois Flore
н н н A А КОВ ВОДИ м м м м ICIA СИЛ. ЕХСТЕС м м м IDA IDA IDA IDA м м м M IDA IDA IDA IDA м м M M IDA IDA IDA IDA м м M M IDA IDA IDA IDA м м M M IDA IDA IDA IDA M M M M IDA IDA IDA IDA	×	<u>к н</u>	ĸ				M	L	783	Comp. Disch.
н н н ICH		ж					×	٨	٨	ACB Vibration
н n n n				×			ж	r	NÐI	IGN Exciter Output
М Н Н Д				H			н	I	484 I	P/ T IP8 Blower
МО Н Н Н Н Пособия Н Н Н Н Н Пособия Пособия Н Н Н Н Н Пособия Пособия Н Н Н Н Пособи Пособи Пособи Н Н Н Н Пособи Пособи Пособи Н Н Н Н Пособи Пособи Пособи Н Н Н Пособи Пособи Пособи Пособи Н Н Н Пособи Пособи Пособи Пособи Н Н Н Н Пособи Пособи Пособи Н Н Н Пособи Пособи Пособи Пособи Н Н Н Н Пособи Пособи Пособи Н Н Н Н Пособи Пособи Пособи Н Н <t< td=""><td>7</td><td></td><td>1</td><td><u>†</u></td><td>н</td><td></td><td>H</td><td>a a</td><td>148</td><td>Bypass Lune Filler</td></t<>	7		1	<u>†</u>	н		H	a a	148	Bypass Lune Filler
И И И И П.Г. ТИРЕ ЦАВИ И И И В.Г. ТИРЕ ЦАВИ И И И В.С. ДЕВИ И И И В.С. ДЕВИ И И Н В.С. ДЕВИ И И И В.С. ДЕВИ <tr< td=""><td>-</td><td>Ян</td><td>†</td><td></td><td>×</td><td></td><td></td><td>v</td><td>MCD</td><td>Detector</td></tr<>	-	Ян	†		×			v	MCD	Detector
М Н Н Б.Т Плавно в разволи в разво		·	<u>+</u>		н		đ	L	TL	Lube Temp.
Н П ОЗЦ Сой Сой Сой Сой Г П	1		<u> </u>		M		м	Ĩ	 5	Differential
Н Н Н Н Н Н Н Н Н Н Н Н Ода Составоса Ода Составоса Ода Составоса Ода Составоса Ода Ода <td>-</td> <td></td> <td><u> </u></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>, †</td> <td>01.7</td> <td>albride</td>	-		<u> </u>					, †	01.7	albride
Н Н Н ОСД	-	د	×	ļ		м	м 	*	8 4 4	POWER AVAILABLE
н H H L3 Domestication H H H TDS gibture H H H H DS gibture H H H H DS gibture H H H H DS goodel Juitto H H H H DS goodel Juitto H H H S	_		<u> </u>		ļ	N	4	2	780	Overspeed
н н н TDS Ristright н н н н п ח ח ח ח ח ח ח ח ח ח <t< td=""><td>4</td><td>4 н</td><td>H</td><td></td><td> </td><td><u></u>Ω₩</td><td>н</td><td><u> </u></td><td>T2</td><td>Totesagmo Compressor</td></t<>	4	4 н	H			<u></u> Ω₩	н	<u> </u>	T2	Totesagmo Compressor
М Н П </td <td></td> <td>4</td> <td>н</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>н</td> <td>H</td> <td>1</td> <td>FD3</td> <td>Load Demand Signal</td>		4	н			н	H	1	FD3	Load Demand Signal
М Н П <td>7</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>н</td> <td>4</td> <td>a a</td> <td>Bb \</td> <td>Bypens Fuel Filter</td>	7					н	4	a a	Bb \	Bypens Fuel Filter
н н н н дат уг. 1 ромит-род н	ן					н	N		r p	Fuel Press, -
H H LD32 D1901) B1488 1 M M M AD AD AD AD 1 M M M AD AD AD AD AD AD 1 M M M AD	1			н		м	•	-	TJA	Power-EXU
1 H H AC AO Contract H H H AO AO Contract H H AO AO Contract A H H AO AO Contract A H H AD AO Contract A H H AD AD AO Contract H H H AD Contract Contract H H H AD Contract A H H H AD Contract Contract H H H AD Contract Contract H H H Contract Contract Contract H H H H Contract Contract		•				н	N	-+- 1	68d	Disch, Press.
н н н л </td <td></td> <td>,</td> <td>11</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>н</td> <td>м</td> <td></td> <td>DA</td> <td>LAIN</td>		,	11			н	м		DA	LAIN
н н н собла иманизация н н н н н н н н н н н н н н н н н н н	- j		 			н		, †	90	10 Dates
м м м м м м м м м м м м м м м м м м м						н	·		MELD	ECO PADL
и и и и и и и и и и и и и и и и и и и	- 1					м	•		GAN	Speed-Denand
и и и и и и и и и и и и и и и и и и и	- 4					×	1		MID	Power Turb. Gurrent HMU-TM
и и и и и и и и и и и и и и и и и и и	- 9.								17	On-ON
и и di ¹ /2 года Глин и и g годана и и g годана Годан Годана Годан Годан Годан Годан Годан Годан Годан Го								i and a		Press, and and the
H H GI HOI FAR							R H	-		Altitude twini. Iniwi
NO TENE			<u> </u>					-	234	Presente
ANAT NON AN AN AN AN						*		<u>-</u> +		Torque Ho, 3 Ens.
tomber, Temp,	- 5	1 271 - 200 - 201 - 20							40 	No. 1 Eng.
и и и и и и и и и и и и и и и и и и и		i H	*			#		L.	14'9	(10) 1040 - 1040 - 1040 - 1040 - 1040 - 1040 - 1040 - 1040 - 1040 - 1040 - 1040 - 1040 - 1040 - 1040 - 1040 - 1
ни и и ранад Сан и и		H	H 1	_		H	l		dN	Power Land.
ин и и и и и		н н	н		H	N		•	ON	Out Gen, Desed
a - Extrating - Extrating - Key - Key - Extra Ex	125: CLVAL Second Lin	Utage	tan Laturation atten	1.00°s	fettad Fart s	at & Parili	ł			

.

• :

The maximum detection and isolation effectiveness rates for a D&CM system on the current T700 engine are estimated to be 85 to 90% for detection and 75 to 80% for isolation. Studies are required to determine whether the achievement of these rates would be cost effective. For comparison, the predicted rates for two GE designed augmented turbofan engine D&CM systems are as follows:

	FD%	<u>FI%</u>	#Parameters
Engine X	95% ⁽¹⁾	71,3%	44
Engine Y	89%	75.1% ⁽²⁾	43

⁽¹⁾Count only events causing 10% power loss or more.

⁽²⁾Includes use of GSE - electrical circuit tester.

MODULES

The 'I700 engine is comprised of four modules: cold section (compressor and output section), hot section (combustor and high pressure turbine (HPT)), low pressure turbine (LPT) module, and accessory module (accessory gearbox (AGB) and most controls and accessories). For troubleshooting purposes, the accessory module is excluded from consideration since all its components except the AGB are LRU's that would be fault isolated and replaced separately as required.

Modular troubleshooting consists of detecting a fault, then isolating the fault to one of three modules. This may involve one or more of four diagnostic techniques, depending upon the problem: performance measurement, vibration measurement. life used measurement, and oil debris monitoring. Candidate parameters for modular troubleshooting are snown on Table 3. It is interesting to note that although 15 parameters may be required, only three would be unique to modular isolation. The relative predicted engine-caused failure rates for the three modules of interest as a percent of total engine events (as discussed later in this section under the heading of "Comparison of Predicted and Actual Distribution of Field Events"), excluding the module related oil-wotted part events, are as follows:

Compressor	9%
Hot Section	9.6%
Power Turbine	4.6%

<u>Modular Performance Fault Isolation</u>: Considerable savings in support costs m. y be possible if performance data taken electronically in flight or during ground tests would identify the module(s) responsible for low engine performance of an installed engine. In the case of the T700, a study was completed in Nov. 1977 which defined an analytical technique and the additional engine instrumentation required by the METS (mobile engine test stand) to isolate engine performance degradation to one of the three performance critical modules, which are the compressor high pressure turbine and power turbine. The METS method, which was evaluated as capable of "reasonable success" in fault isolation at maintenance bases, is not considered practical for installed engines because of the added instrumentation required, including accurate airflow instrumentation. Another approach applicable to onthe-wing fault isolation which has been studied requires much less added instrumentation than the METS and no airflow measurements. This method is a candidate for further analysis and evaluation for installed engine modular performance determination and is the basis for the parameter selection shown on Table 3.

The difficulty of conducting the performance diagnostic function in an acceptable manner is fully appreciated. More than 75% effectiveness in this type of fault isolation is probably not achievable due to unmeasurable leakage and cooling flow variations, and instrumentation error even if a practical method is developed. In addition to these difficulties is added the fact that overall engine performance is very sensitive to small changes in component performance. For example, the effect of module thermodynamic efficiency on overall engine performance for the T700 engine is approximately as shown below. A 10% loss in engine power would result from any one of the following reductions in component performance:

Power Turbine Efficiency	10%。
Compressor Efficiency	2, 5%
Gas Generator Turb. Eff.	2.5%
Leakage	3.0%

<u>Modular Vibration Fault Isolation</u>: The use of externally mounted accelerometers to detect power turbine, high pressure turbine, and compressor notor out-of-limits unbalance is feasible. Two accelerometers, one mounted on the AGB and one on the exhaust frame, will detect a one-per-revolution unbalance condition on either rotor. Signal conditioning equipment unique to the accelerometers is required, including charge amplifiers, high and low pass filters, and tracking filters to track the two rotor speeds. Since rotor unbalance problems on the T700 engine are most easily detected during start-up acceleration, fault isolation could be performed during low power runs.

Regarding the detection of incipient bearing failures, experience has shown that accelerometers are not suitable for this role.

ų.

<u>Modular Oil-Wetted Part Fault Isolation</u>: Bearing, gear, spline or seal problems that generate magnetic debris particles in the oil will be detected by the master chip detector. Examination of the six scavenge screens at the scavenge pump inlets will, in many cases, indicate the source of the debris. If this is inconclusive, slave magnetic chip detectors can be inserted at the scavenge pump inlets for more effective debris capture during ground runs. Permanent installation of indicating and chip detectors in each line would not be recommended. Permanent installation of manually read magnetic plugs might be considered, if proven cost effective.

<u>Modular Life Usage Monitoring</u>: The measurement of low cycle fatigue based on gas generator speed excursions and stress rupture life usage based on cumulative time - T4.5 temporature measurement can provide a valuable prognostic tool for scheduling borescope inspections or module replacement. When LCF and stress rupture life limits become well established for several critical hot and rotating parts, these life usage measures can direct maintenance actions to specific modules with favorable reliability, maintainability and life-cycle cost impacts.

LINE REPLACEABLE UNITS (LRU'S)

Table 4 lists the 23 T700 engine components classified as LRU's by the T700 PIDS Appendix 50^1 . The LRU tabulation is arranged in order of decreasing predicted failure rate to show the LRU's with the highest potential payoff for D& CM at the top. Also shown is a preliminary estimate of the most effective D& CM technique for fault isolating each non-FADEC T700 LRU. Of special interest is the observation that only 16 LRU's or 70% are strong candidates for fault isolation by electronic D& CM monitoring. The remaining LRU failures are isolated by ground electrical circuit checks or visual inspection. In terms of number of failure events per 10 hours diagnosed electronically the porcentage is higher - 279/331 or 84%.

Reference to Table 3 indicates that as many as 17 additional signals, most of which require added engine sensors, may be required to achieve the maximum practical D&CM fault isolation capability. Most of these sensors would become LRU's also subject to failure and requiring fault isolation logic.

¹PRI ME ITEM DEVELOPMENT SPECIFICATION (PIDS) FOR 1700-GE-700 TURBOSHAFT ENGINE, General Electric Co., Lynn, MA., U.S. Army Specification No. AMC-CP 2222-02000A, page 213.

			Potential	Fault Isolati	on Method
		(2) FR/10 ⁶ Hours	D&CM	Ground Support Equipment	Manual/ Visual
1.	Electrical Control Unit	105	x		
2.	Hydromechanical Control	42	х		
	Unit				
3.	Thermocouple Harness	19		X	Х
	(T4.5)				
4.	Anti-Icing Starting Bleed	17	Х		
	Valve				
5.	Lube/Scavenge _ mp	17	Х		
6.	Fuel Filter Assy.	16			x
7.	Sequence Valve	14	X		
8.	Fuel Boost Pump	13	Х		
9.	Ignition Excitor	12	X		
10.	Oil Filter Bypass Sensor	12	X		
11.	IPS Blower	10	X		
12.	Torque Sensor	8	X		
13.	Np Sensor	8	X		
14.	Wiring Harnosses	7		X	
15.	Ignitors .	7	4#	X	
16.	Primer Nozzios	6	х		X V
17.	Alasmotan Gastan	4			
10.	Alteriator Stator Ohis Datastan	** 	A V	A V	
19.	Unp 19000000 Dediat Daine Chaft	- 1	A	Λ	• • I
20.	Adual Drive Shall	3			A X
AL. 99		2	x		n l
23	Tenttion Loads	2	x	x	
	The work country		A B.		

TABLE 4.D&CM PRIORITY LIST FOR LINE REPLACEABLE UNITST700 LRU(1) PREDICTED FAILURE RATES AT MATURITY

(1) LRU's defined by PUS Appendix 30

² 1700 BI-MONTHLY RELIABILITY PROGRESS REPORT, General Electric Co., Lynn, MA., U.S. Army Contract No. DAAJ01-72-C-0381, CDRL Item A060, 20 May 1974

Oil-Wetted Parts (OWP)

Monitoring of oil-wetted parts can isolate oil system problems to oil system LRU's such as pump, filter and cooler as well as detect non-LRU problems such as incipient bearing, seal, AGB and spline problems. As indicated later in this section under the heading of "Comparison of Predicted and Actual Distribution of Field Events", oil-wetted part problems are predicted to comprise about 19% of the problems to be encountered at organizational level. Of greater impact is the po-tential to prevent secondary engine damage and mission aborts by early warning of impending OWP problems. As Table 3 shows, only six monitored parameters are required to perform these functions. Assuming the existence of a D&CM system, OWP monitoring should be very cost effective.

<u>Control LRU's</u>: The need for a detailed analysis of the non-FADEC T700 control diagnostic system becomes clear when studying Table 3. Twenty-one candidate parameters of the 30 listed may be required for control and fuel systems diagnosis. Six of these parameters would require new sensors and several more would require qu. e electrical isolation or buffering to prevent the D&CM system from causing spurious signals to be fed into the ongine's control. A trade study which considers projected system effectiveness, life-cycle cost effects, and reliability and main-tainability impact is required in order to quantify these factors and provide a sound basis for future actions.

An indication of the computer logic required for control fault isolation can be obtained by reference to the T700 Maintonance Instructions TM55-7840-248-°3, 31 May 1978.³ The troublesheeting procedure block diagrams comprise \neg pages of troublesheeting logic, 48 of which are concerned with fuel and control system problems. A D&CM computer system comprising signal conditioning and fault detection circuitry in the airborne system plus fault isolation logic and display facilities, probably in a ground-based unit, would be necessary to provide the maintenance messages for LRU fault isolation. The analysis and trade study would determine how much of this logic would be feasible to include in the airborne D&CM system and how much in the ground unit.

Other LRU's

<u>Separator</u> <u>blower</u> failures can be detected and isolated with either a differential pressure or temperature sensor.

³ Aviation Unit and Intermediate Maintenance Instruction, General Electric Co., 1700-GE-700 Engine, TM55-2840-243-23, 31 May 1978

Wiring harness and <u>connector</u> problems require circuit checks with ground equipment for isolation.

Engine history recorder problems become obvious when recorded data is analyzed.

Ignition system problems can be detected by monitoring ignition exciter output by an induction coil around the ignition leads. Isolating the problem between leads and igniters, however, probably requires ground circuit checks.

<u>Sensors</u>: Logic can be programmed into a D&CM sirborne computer to make gross signal validity checks of most engine analog signals. The logic will determine if each signal is within the min-max band for an engine running between ground idle and high power conditions. Signal errors due to sensor calibration shifts, however, would not be detected as they would with a FADEC/FICA equipped engine as discussed later in Section V.

T700-GE-700 ENGINE FIELD FAILURE ANALYSIS

An analysis of all General Electric Field Service Reports (GE DV-7) has been made covering UTTAS and AAH flight testing of the T700-GE-700 engine between October 1974 and June 1977. The testing included more than 11,000 hours of T700 engine operation.

The failure rate of the unqualified 1700-GE-700 engines is not of interest for this analysis, but the <u>distribution</u> of failures is important since it is an indication of the areas of greatest payoff for diagnostics and condition monitoring. Distribution of the 197 failure events resulting in an engine or component removal is shown in Table 5.

Table 5 shows that:

- 1. There was a low incidence (3%) of performance problems. In the six performance events there was no consistent degradation versus time effect. Time-since-new (TSN) varied from 1.5 hours to 143 hours. Longtime factory engines with more than 600 hours had no discernible performance degradation.
- 2. There was a predominance of controls and fuel system problems (53%). Further review of the details shows four components (HMU, ECU, SV, and primer nozzles) accounting for over 60% of all events in this category. With a FADEC system, the incidence of control failures should be significantly reduced, as shown in Table 1.

3. OWP problems accounted for 19% of the total failure events. This proportion, however, does not accurately reflect the critical nature of OWP problems. Such problems, if undetected early in their failure state, can and typically do lead to catastrophic failure with extensive associated secondary damage.

TABLE 5.	ABLE 5. DISTRIBUTION OF T700-GE-700 ENGINE FAILURE EVENTS			
	Failure Events	Percent		
	Performance Loss (1)	3.4		
	Compressor	3.9		
	Controls and Fuel System	53.4		
	Electrical (2)	12.3		
	Oil-Wetted Parts (3)	19.2		
	Miscellaneous	7.8		
	Hot Parts	0.0		
		100.0 (4)		

(1) Includes only those events caused by stalls, damage, or deterioration of gas path elements. It excludes abnormal performance corrected by control component replacements.

(2) Key electrical control components included with controls and fuel syste....

(3) Includes lube and scavenge systems sumps, seals, hearings, and sensors. Twenty-seven chip detector inspections based on cookpit chip light indications are <u>not</u> included, as no engine or sensor failures were involved. In most cases, manufacturing or assembly debris caused the indication. In no case, however, did the detector fail to detect a bearing failure.

(4) "All-cause" failures were included rather than <u>engine only caused failures</u>, the usual measure of engine reliability. For D&CM analysis purposes, detection and fault isolation of <u>all</u> events, regardless of cause, is of concern. For example, all FOD events were included as compressor failure events as well as all stall events (performance event), some of which may have been airframe induced.

In conjunction with OWP problems, there were 39 chip detector alarms. Of these, 12 were valid and 27 were false, caused by manufacturing or maintenance debris. The 3:1 (39/12) ratio is lower than GE T700 factory experience of 5:1 or the Army's experience of 5-6:1 on other engines; nevertheless, chip detector systems warrant improvement. Under the present T700 engine maintenance plan, the procedure in the event of a chip alarm is to first shut down the affected engine, as soon as safety permits. The next step is to remove, inspect, clean and reinstall the chip detector. If analysis is not conclusive, run the engine for 15 minutes to see if another chip alarm is generated. If another chip alarm is not generated in the 15-minute test run, it is assumed that the initial alarm was not caused by abnormal wear or failure but by manufacturing debris or normal wear fuzz, and the engine is returned to service. If another chip alarm is generated in the 15minute run, the process is repeated until either the chips clearly indicate failure or three 15-minute runs have resulted in no chip alarm. Such failure indications will result in engine removal, teardown, and failure investigation. The above chip alarm procedure has been fully effective in discriminating between a false chip alarm and an OWP failure usually with just one 15-minute run. Every failure during flight test was detected prior to the occurrence of secondary damage, and no engine was removed due to a false chip alarm. There were no chip detector failuros.

Comparison of Predicted and Actual Distribution of Field Events

Table 6 shows a close correlation of predicted field failure distribution at organizational level versus the distribution of all-cause removals that actually occurred. The predicted failure distribution was obtained directly from the current T700 Failure Mode and Effect Critical Analysis (FMECA) sheets.

.

GENERAL ELECTIC MODULAR REPLACEMENT EXPERIENCE

CF6 Engine

The modular design of the CF6 family of engines facilitates quick turnaround maintenance. The engine is made up of a number of separate modules or engine maintenance units (EMU's). The engine can be disassembled into modules for sectionalized repair and for rapid engine turnaround by module replacement. Modules and their subcomponents can be changed quickly and efficiently, as illustrated by the typical replacement times shown on page 26.

MEASURED REMO	VAL RATE	SAT FLIC	GHT TEST	
	Predi Engine	icted Caused	Measure Flight 7 All Cau	d On Test ses
	Failure	Percent		
	Rate	Engine	No. of	Percent
Component	(10 ⁶ hr)	Total	Events	Total
CONTROL AND FUEL SYSTEM				
Hydromechanical Unit (HMII)	41.7	7.9	37	18.3
Sequence Valve	14.0	2.6	22	10.9
Fuel Filter	16.0	3.0	2	1.0
F.el Boost Pump	13.0	2.4	4	2.0
Fuel Manifold	10.0	1.9	1	0.5
Fuel Injectors	6.0	1.1	0	0
Anti-Icing and Starting Bleed Valve	17.0	3.2	6	3.0
Electrical Control Unit (ECU)	105.0	19.8	10	5.0
Primer Nozzles	4.0	0.7	18	8.9
Torquo Sensor	8.0	1.5	5	2.5
Speed Sonsor	8.0	1.5	0	0
Unknown	in. 		_2	1.0
Totals	<u>242.7</u>	45.6	107	53.0
COMPRESSOR				
Swirl Frame	4.0	0.8	2	1.0
Front Frame	2, 1	0.4	-	.
Midframe and Mainframe	12.4	2.3		-
Stator	11.1	2.1	8 (FOD)	4.0
Rotor	6.0	1. 1	3 (Stall)	1.5
Variable Geometry Linkage	8.0	1,5	-	
Inlet Guido Vanos	4.5	0.8	146 	ari. Tariya manahari
Totals	48.1	9.0	13	6.4

TABLE 6. MATURE T700 PREDICTED FAILURE RATES VERSUSMEASURED REMOVAL RATES AT FLIGHT TEST

TABLE	: 6 - Contin	ued			
	Predicted Engine Caused		Measu Fligh All C	red On Test auses	
Component	Failure Rate	Percent Engine Total	No. of Events	Pèrcent Total	
	(10 111)	1000	<u>HVOIDO</u>	<u></u>	
OIL-WETTED PARTS					
Chip Detector Accessory Gearbox (AGB) Lube and Scavenge Pump Oil Cooler Lube Filter and B. P. Sensor No. 1 Bearing Seal No. 1 Duplex Bearing	$\begin{array}{c} 4.0\\ 24.1\\ 17.0\\ 2.0\\ 14.0\\ 1.0\\ 2.4\\ 1.0\\ \end{array}$	0.75 4.5 3.2 0.4 2.6 0.2 0.5	0 6 2 6 0	- 9 2.5 3.0 1.0 3.0 0	
No. 2 Roller Bearing	1.0	0.2	0	0	
No. 4 Roller Bearing Demos Teleouff Duine Accombin	2.5	0.5	2	1.0	
No. 9 Ball Dearing	1.V 9.9	0.3	10	5.0	
No. 5 Baller Bearing	2.9	0.3	0	0	
No. 6 Ball Hearing	1.3	0.3	Ő	Õ	
No. 5 Carbon Seal	8.0	1.5	2	1.0	
Miscellanoous	**		6	3.0	
Total	<u>82.1</u>	15.5	39	<u>19.3</u>	
EXTERNAL CONFIGURATION					
Fuel Lines and Hoses Lube Lines and Hoses Air Lines and Brackets Inlet Particle Separator Blower	10.0 4.0 4.7 <u>10.0</u>	1.9 0.8 0.8 1.9	10	<u>-</u> _ <u>5.0</u>	
Total	<u></u>	<u>5.4</u>	<u></u>	<u> </u>	

t

TAB	LE 6 - Continu	ied		
	Preat Engine	lcted Caused	Measu Fligh All C	ired On it Test Causes
Component	Failure Rate (10 ⁶ hr)	Percent Engine Total	Nc. of Events	Percent Total
ELECTRICAL				
History Recorder Igniter, Plugs, and Leads Ignition Exciter Wiring Harnesses T _{4.5} Harness Alternator	4 20 7 19 <u>4</u>	$0.8 \\ - \\ 3.8 \\ 1.3 \\ 3.6 \\ 0.7 \\ - \\ 0.7 \\ - \\ 0.8 \\ $	9 5 2 4 5 	4.5 2.5 1.0 2.0 2.5
Total		<u>10.2</u>		<u>12.4</u>
Output Shaft Ower Turbine (PT) Case Stage 4 Nozzle Stage 3 Nozzle Power Turbine (PT) Rotor Exhaust Frame	$1.0 \\ 2.0 \\ 5.0 \\ 8.0 \\ 7.1 \\ 2.0 \\$	$0.2 \\ 0.4 \\ 0.9 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.3 \\ 0.4$	2 1 4	1.0 0.5 - 2.0
Total	25.1	4.7	7	35
HOT SECTION				
Rotor Assembly (HPT) Combustion Liner Stage 1 Nozzle Stage 2 Nozzle	8.9 16.0 19.0 <u>7.0</u>	1.7 3.0 3.8 1.3	1	.5
Total	<u>50.9</u>	9.6	1	.5

CHARLES A REAL PROPERTY OF THE REAL

:

الأربي والاستجار

ţ,

c

Leister

a a tangét nén kanéntangké.

Engine Module or		Number	Replacement
<u>Component</u>		Men	Time (Hours)
Low-Pressure Turbine		4	6:00
High-Pressure Turbine		3	3:20
Stage 1 Nozzle		2	1:00
Combustion Liner	•	2	1:00
Ignition Plugs		2	0:09
Fan Rotor		3	4:40
Fan Blades		3	1:25

The modular design which permits changes without compulsory pretesting of individual EMU's or assurance testing of the engine has been proven in commercial operation of CF6 engines. For example, one operator reinstalled 62 engines which had module changes without a t st cell run. Of these, only three did not give satisfactory performance. A study of another operator's 46 module change-outs revealed that when 35 were again removed after considerable flight time, only four engines had problems that might have been detected earlier in test cell runs.

The CF6 modular design also allows the engine to be split and subsequently quickly reassembled into core, low-pressure turbine, and fan sections with self-contained tooling. Such capability permits shipment of the CF6 engines (with necessary tooling) in a variety of military and commercial aircraft, including wide-bodied jet transports. This feature could be a major factor in reducing aircraft on ground (AOG) time for an aircraft in an area remote from its main maintenance base.

T700 Engine

Replacing modules on this small turboshaft engine is comparatively simple. The ongine is divided into four modules: the cold section module, hot section moduly, power turbine modulo, and accessory module (see Figure 1).

Cold section modulo removal and replacement is now done at the depot whereas the other modules are replaceable in the field.

Hot section module replacement has been difficult in the past. Now, with better control of balance and clearances, 1700 production engine hot sections can be changed without match balancing.

The power turbine module has been removed and replaced frequently with no adverse effect on engine vibrations or performance.

Successful removal and replacement of the accessory module with no performance change have been domonstrated.

· 花袋 动脉 化乙酸 一、香油



T700-GE-700 ENGINE CONDITION MONITORING EXPERIENCE

Background

The status of Diagnostic and Condition Monitoring of the T700 engine at the completion of the UTTAS and AAH intensive flight test programs is given in Volume 8 of the T700-GE-700 Engine Design Report⁴. Volume 8 documents D&CM developments since June 1976 and offers subjective judgments and comments on the lessons learned that may apply to future turboshaft engine programs.

Engine History Recorder

The engine history recorder (EHR) is a 2-1/2-pound engine-mounted electrical analog device which is supplied on all production T700-GE-700 engines. Inaccurate counting of the number of engine starts, caused by the momentary power interruptions during preflight operations when electrical loads were being transferred from the auxiliary power unit (APU) to the aircraft alternator, was a nuisance problem during flight test. The problem has been solved by powering the EHR from the engine alternator through the engine wiring harness.

Field experience has dictated changes to the measured parameters on the original EHR to improve the utility of its output for monitoring the lives of key serialized engine components and modules. The original and improved parameter displays are compared in Table 7.

TABLE 7. MEASURED PA	ARAMETER IMPROVEMENTS
Original Parametors	Improved Parameters
Engine Hours	Engine Hours - No Change (N/C)
Time-Tomperature Index	Time-Temperature Index - N/C
Starts	Low Cycle Fatigue (LCF) Count – Full Cycles
Number of Overtemperature Events	Low Cycle Fatigue (LCF) Count - Partial Cycles
Overtemperature Flag	Eliminated

⁴Rosen, M. M., 1700-GE-700 ENGINE DESIGN REPORT, CONDITION MONI-TORING AND DIAGNOSTICS, General Electric Co., Lynn, MA, Aircraft Engine Group, Report R78AEG043, Volume 8, 28 June 1976. Ideally, a more advanced unit would have two more useful output functions:

- 1. Computation of low cycle fatigue using a more sophisticated cycle counting method that equates all speed related cycles large and small to an equivalent number of "master cycles". This would replace two LCF cycle counts - major and minor. A program to accomplish more accurate computation of LCF has recently been initiated.
- 2. Computation of engine health performed in the EHR and displayed in the cockpit to relieve the pilot of some HIT check functions that divert his attention from flight operations.

Both of the above functions require computations best done by a digital computer. The advanced EHR would then have the following functions:

> Engine operating hours Time - temperature LCF master cycles

Non-resettable counts

Engine health/or degradation - percent

Input to cockpit display.

Magnetic Chip Detector

2

One master chip detector design change has been approved recently by the Army for production engines. The secondary (nonmagnetic) gap is being eliminated in an effort to reduce the incidence of nuisance signals. This gap was located at the bottom of the detector body where nonmagnetic suspended particles would collect. Engine test confirmed that nonmagnetic metallic contaminants were not indicative of engine failures. The 5 to 1 ratio of nuisance signals to failure signals is expected to be reduced by this change. A longer range approach to the reduction of nuisance signals would be the development of a detector that could, with or without human assistance, discriminate between random metallic chips (creating nuisance signals) and debris being generated by a failure in process. A program to improve the discrimination capability of the chip detector has recently been initiated.

Oil Monitor

An Army decision has been made to defer or drop further T700 oil monitor factory evaluation on the basis that adequate bearing condition monitoring can be done with a chip detector. The oil monitor, a bench-tested device developed by GE, was more effective than spectrometric oil analysis in detecting oil contamination, but both techniques suffered because of the fine oil filtration (3 microns absolute) of the T700 lube system.

Engine Health Monitor

Preliminary factory development tests were successful in demonstrating that an engine health monitor could detect overall engine performance degradation within $^{\pm}1\%$ of an as-new baseline. The corresponding performance degradation capable of being detected in an aircraft was predicted to be $^{\pm}2\%$. Feasibility of the engine health monitor concept has been demonstrated.

Filter Bypass Indicators

Both fuel and lube filters provide an electrical signal to the cockpit denoting actual openings of the filter bypass valve. A pop-out red button on each filter body warns the mechanic that an impending bypass condition exists. The lube pop-out button has a thermal lockout to prevent impending bypass signals due to cold oil, a temporary condition. Early problems with the thermal lockout have been resolved.

Borescope

The Army has approved a standardized rigid borescope for the T700 and two borescope ports have been relocated to facilitate insertion and removal of the borescope.

Diagnostic Connector - E4

The E4 23-pin connector on the electrical control unit is provided for groundchecking electrical control circuits. No peculiar ground support equipment (PGSE) unit has yet been authorized for this purpose. A proposal is now under consideration by AVSCOM for providing such a unit for development test use. The test unit, powered from the UTTAS or AAH APU, and simple and light enough to be carried by one man, would speed LRU fault isolation.

Rotor Unbalance Monitor

This vibration analyzor box was designed for use with a bearing-mounted accelorometer and consequently is not calibrated for use with externally mounted sensors. Internal accelerometers were found to be unreliable and were discarded. An evaluation program is under way to qualify two externally mounted accelerometers on the T700 engine, one on a special pad of the accessory gearbox (AGB) and the other on the exhaust frame flange. Three accelerometer manufacturers' sensors are being evaluated on factory development engines. Results to date have indicated a possible high temperature life problem with the exhaust frame accelerometers which are rated for temperatures up to 900° F with 20 pice coulombs/g sensitivity. Such sensors represent an advance in the current state of the art which is 10 pice coulombs/g at that temperature.

SUMMARY OF RECENT GENERAL ELECTRIC ENGINE CONDITION MONITORING (ECM) ACTIVITIES

General Electric is currently engaged in a broad range of ECM activities. They include studies to determine the appropriate ECM system for particular GE engines, the development of ECM systems to evaluate "on-line" various ECM sensors and concepts, and the production of ECM systems as part of GE engines or offered as optional equipment. While each ECM application is unique, data derived from one system can, in many cases, be applied to other systems. In the conduct of this study, General Electric utilized information gained from other ECM activities where appropriate.

Table 8 indicates the content of the various ECM activities in which GE has been involved, including comments relative to purpose, degree of success, and other pertinent information.

The data and experience gained from the work summarized in Table 8 are applicable to this FADEC study and lead to a number of general conclusions.

1. Modular performance measurement by D&CM systems has not yet been demonstrated.

A program is underway for the CFM-56 engine to define the instrumentation and computer logic to fault isolate performance problems to the module level for this large commorcial engine. If successful, an important maintenance cost & downtime saver will be achieved for the commorcial engine users. No similar program is in effect for GE military engines, nor has a cost effectiveness study been done to justify the need.

2. ECM ongine-mounted sensors and wiring harnesses must be specially designed to withstand the in-service engine environment.

Experience has shown that ECM sensors and wiring unsuited to the ongine environment have resulted in considerable system downtime, false signals, and loss of confidence in engine condition monitoring in general. This has been especially true in cases where false signals have caused engine shutdowns. Where ECM engine-mounted sensors and wiring harnesses have been ruggedized and designed to be insensitive to heat and vibration, failures and false signals have been reduced to an acceptable lovel. 3. Simplicity enhances the probability of success of ECM systems.

As ECM systems are fundamentally data acquisition, processing, and recording systems, the probability of their functioning successfully is inversely proportional to the number of sensed parameters and the number of functions provided. Complex ECM systems have experienced many problems associated with hardware and software; redesign of ECM systems invariably results in substantial simplification. 読む いいまた 人口

TABLE 8. GENERAL ELECTRIC ENGINE CONDITION MONITORING (ECM) ACTIVITIES								
	Exceedance Monitoring	Exceedance Alarm	Life-Used Indices	LRU Fault Isolation	In-Flight Recording	Trending	Engine Trim	Parameters
STUDIES F404 Engine ECM Study The F404 ECM study has been completed. The results of the various systems considered are presented below.								
<u>System A</u> – An expensive system featuring in- flight control system monitoring, on-engine sig- nal conditioning, and no PGSE. This system was not recommended by GE due to its weight and lack of cost effectiveness.	x	X	x	x	X	×		43
System B - A moderately expensive system simi- lar in function to System A, but without on-engine signal conditioning or in-flight control monitor- ing. Control system data is acquired during ground runs using PGSE. This lighter and cost effective system was recommended by GE.	X	x	x	X	X	x		29

TABLE 8 - Continued	1							
	Exceedance Monitoring	Exceedance Alarm	Life-Used Indices	LRU Fault Isolation	In-Flight Recording	Trending	Engine Trim	Darametore
STUDIES – Continued								
Base-Line (BL) System - This relatively in- expensive system was within original budget- ary estimates. As compared with System A, this BL system does not ave on-engine sig- nal conditioning, in-flight control monitoring, LRU fault isolation, or PGSE, and is some- what limited in other system features. This is the system that was adopted by the Navy.	x	х	X		х	x		15
TF34 EDS I - This study is still in progress. In-service failure history has been analyzed in order to determine actual versus predicted fail- ure modes. Candidate parameters and functions have been selected and algorithms are being developed to allow the effectiveness of these parameters and functions to be evaluated. Parameters were selected in compliance with the contractural requirements that: (1) sensors be removable without engine disassembly, (2) no engine structure modification be required, and (3) only current state-of-the-art instrumentation be proposed.	x	X	x		x	x	x	+1
• These are candidate parameters. Final paramete made.	r se	lect	ion I	185	not	yet	bee	

ĩ

TABLE 8 - Continued	d							
	Exceedance Monitoring	Exceedance Alarm	Life-Used Indices	LRU Fault Isolation	In-Flight Recording	Trending	Engine Trim	Parameters
DEVELOPMENT SYSTEMS								
TF34 EDS II - General Electric is support- ing Northrop in its demonstration program to equip three A-10 aircraft with Northrop's Engine Health Monitoring Systems (EHMS). These systems were previously utilized on Air Force T38 aircraft. In-flight data is stored in memory and transferred to PGSE postflight.	x		x		X	X	x	15
F101 CITS - Thic is an extensive ECM sys- tom featuring in-flight control system moni- toring, on-engine signal conditioning and no PGSE. Three of these systems are function- ing on B1 aircraft during the flight test pro- gram and a fourth system is being operated in the GE factory. To date most system ob- jectives have been met and Air Force accep- tance has been high.	X	x	X	X	x	x	ж	44
TF39 ADEMS I - This was a joint effort by the U.S. Air Force and General Electric to design, install in a C-5A aircraft, and oval- uate an Advanced Diagnostic Engine Monitor- ing System. Although severely damaged during its first flight, due to an emergency landing, the system operation and analysis indicated that the program objectives would have been met.	x	X		x	x	x	x	44
TABLE 8 - Continued	1							
---	-----------------------	------------------	-------------------	---------------------	---------------------	----------	-------------	------------
	Exceedance Monitoring	Exceedance Alarm	Life-Used Indices	LRU Fault Isolation	In-Flight Recording	Trending	Engine Trim	Parameters
DEVELOPMENT SYSTEMS - Continued								
TF39 ADEMS II - This system is more modest in approach than ADEMS I and has 29 param- eters. At this time it has undergone extensive factory checkout and is now in the process of flight checkout installed in a C-5A aircraft.	X	x		x	x	x	x	29
<u>LM2500 I</u> - This extensive ECM system was tosted and evaluated at NAVSEC Philadelphia from November 18, 1975 to September 28, 1976. This testing allowed thorough hard- ware and software evaluation that led to recommendations for a follow-on system.	x	x			x	x		42
LM2500 II - This ECM system has been re- designed based on testing and evaluation of the LM2500 I system. It has been reduced from 42 to 14 parameters. T5.4, one of the 14 ECM parameters, is determined from 11 individual T5.4 thermocouples. The system has been completed and will be installed on board the Callahan Army Logistics Ship for one year of at-sea testing.	X	· ·			X	x		14

TABLE 8- Continue	đ							
	Exceedance Monitoring	Exceedance Alarm	Life-Used Indices	LRU Fault Isolation	In-Flight Recording	Trending	Engine Trim	Parameters
PRODUCTION SYSTEMS								
<u>CF6</u> – Minimal ECM systems are offered to customers as options. They have had limited acceptance to date.	x		x		x	x	x	*
<u>CFM56</u> - There will be qualified ECM sys- tems offered with the ongine upon cortifica- tion in late 1979. The customer can purchase, as options, whatever mix of systems he da- sires. Flight data will be supplemented with data from specially mounted ECM sensors during ground diagnostic runs.	X				X	X	X	*
* The number of parameters available in these ECM frame and customer requirements.	i sys	tom	IS W	ilî v	ary	wit	h ai	L

1.1.2.1.1.1.1.1

والمالية والمحافظة والمحافظة والمحافظ والمحافظة والمحافي المحافظ والمحافظ والمحافي والمحاف والمحاف والمحافظة

(``..

DIAGNOSTIC FUNCTION CATEGORIES AND EVALUATION

To meet the Army's D&CM requirements for future turboshaft engines with full authority digital electronic controls, four principal diagnostic functions must be performed. These functions (tabulated in Table 3) have the following principal purposes.

<u>Cockpit Cautions</u> – Warning to the pilot that an engine problem is imminent that may result in a power loss. Prompt action may prevent secondary damage.

<u>Condition Monitoring</u> – To support "On Condition Maintenance" by measuring and recording data indicative of the overall mechanical and thermodynamic condition of the engine and the life remaining in key engine parts.

Fault Detection - Detecting out-of-limit conditions.

<u>Fault Isolation</u> - The logic process utilizing engine data to isolate the cause of an undesirable engine condition to a specific module or LRU. In the case of electronic fault isolation, a simple means of communicating the finding to the maintenance person is also required.

The rankings in Table 9 result from judging today's engine needs/problems and the praoticality and cost effectiveness of available techniques.

TABLE 9. DIAGNOSTIC FUNC	TION CATEG	ORIES AND	EVALA	JATION
	1ST PRIORITY	2ND PRIORITY	N/R* NOW	Rocom- mend to Intograto Into FADEC
Cockpit Cautions Requiring Pilot				
Action				
- Low, high or fluctuating oil				
presaure	×			
- High vibration		X		
- Chip detection	X			X
– Fuel or lube filter bypass		X		X
- Combustor overpressure			X	X
- Oil temperature		X		X
- Bearing race temperature			X	

TABLE	9 - Continued			
	1ST PRIORITY	2ND PRIORITY	N/R* NOW	Recom- mend to integrate into FADEC
<u>Condition Monitoring for "On</u> <u>Condition" Maintenance</u>				
 Performance check for engine health determination Count and record low cycle 	x			¥
fatigue NG cycles	x			х
rupture life	x	x		x x
- Low cycle fatigue (LCF) -		**	v	
- SOAP - Oil analysis			x	A
- Borescope Inspection	X			
- Record exceedance data sets for				
manual or electronic analysis - Track selected control schedules		X		
for LRU fault detection	x			X
& NG to detect rotor unbalance		•		
- Detect sensor failures	x	~		X
- Detect overtemp., overspeed - Track oil pressure and NG to	X			X
detect oil system problems - Detect stall	X		¥	X X
- Process III' check data for		V	'n	
performance tread altiyais		×		

TABLE 9	- Continued			
Fault Isolation and Annunciation	1ST PRIORITY	2ND PRIORITY	N/R* NOW	Recom- mend to integrate into FADEC
 Process exceedance data through logic programs for LRU fault isolation Conduct visual inspection of engine for leaks, oil level, filter bypass, inlet FOD, loose 	x			
fittings, etc.	х			
- Modular fault isolation - performance - Modular fault isolation - oil-wetted	X			x
parts (OWP)	x			х
- Modular fault isolation - vibration	x			
~ Modular fault isolation - life usage	X			х
·	*N/R - Not 1	recommende	ed now.	,

TASK II - DIAGNOSTIC METHODS IDENTIFICATION

A comparison of the T700-GE-700 engine with the TF34-GE-2 and the TF34-GE-100 engines is given in Table 10 and shows similar trends in the distribution of D&CM events. A D&CM event is an actual or potential failure detection that would be accomplished by use of a D&CM system. In any analysis of engine field data, the number of D&CM events exceed the number of failures because many failures are detectable by more than one D&CM sensor.

TABLE 10.	DISTRIBUTION OF	D&CM EVENTS	}
	T700-GE-700 (%)	TF34-GE-2 (%)	TF34-GE-100 (%)
Vibration	4.6	7.4	-
Oil-Wetted Parts	22.2	9.6	23. 3
Performance	5. 2	4.4	2.5
Hot Section	9.8	22.1	15.0
Controls	32.7	37.1	18.3
Inspection Finds	18.3	14.0	12.5
Compressor and Fan	2.9	5.5	11.7
Inlet Particle Separator Blow	or <u>3.6</u>	1 print Manual and a state	يندن فينتقب جونية (منتجر جونية
·	100.0	100.0	100.0

The following discussion of diagnostic methods addresses each category of failure detection derived from field data analysis as summarized in Table 10. The estimates of effectiveness of diagnostic methods are based on prior GE D&CM experience cited in Task I plus other GE engine experience without D&CM.

TURBOSHAFT DIAGNOSTIC METHODS

Vibration

Vibration monitoring is potentially a valuable technique for detecting incipient mechanical failures and measuring engine mechanical degradation by trend analysis techniques. Vibration monitoring must be tailored to each engine with its peculiar characteristics. It is also one of the most difficult D&CM functions to perform reliably for the following reasons:

- 1. It is difficult to find locations on an engine that permit accelerometer replacement as an LRU and also produce clean signals with high ratios of signal to noise.
- 2. Extremely careful selection and application of accelerometer electrical connector and wiring is required to prevent electrical noise pickup and mechanical damage.
- 3. Skillful selection of system charge amplifiers, filters, logic, and limits is required.

GE experience has indicated that engine vibration monitoring should include measurement of broad band, and 1/rev accelerations of each rotor by use of narrow band tracking filters. Because of the specialized data processing circuit elements required, their cost and weight, possible variations in requirements of each engine application, and the special electrical shielding requirements to prevent noise plokup, the vibration data processing elements should not be included in the FADEC unit.

Oil-Wetted Parts

Oil temperature monitored by an aircraft crew member can be a useful indicator of an engine incipient failure such as loss of oil and oil cooler failure. For the oil temperature to be meaningful, a crew member must mentally integrate other data such as outside air temperature (OAT), fuel temperature, and NG. To perform the oil temperature monitoring electronically, the FADEC-D&CM system might require a fuel temperature sensor to be added to the aircraft fuel system and computer logic added to the FADEC unit. In view of the small probability of oil system events that only oil temperature measurement can detect, it is not considered a high priority parameter. Oil pressure (PL) measured at the lube supply pump discharge and biased by bearing sump pressure is an extremely valuable and critical engine condition monitoring parameter. To be meaningful and to avoid false signals, a characteristic curve of lube pressure versus core engine speed, NG, is required together with a tolerance band to account for system and oil temperature variations. Oil system problems may be indicated by low, high, or fluctuating oil pressure. Since almost all cockpit displays include oil pressure, the primary function of oil system monitoring is to warn the pilot that he has an oil system problem so he can closely monitor his pressure gage and make intelligent decisions accordingly.

Bearing race temperature or bearing differential oil temperature measurements are not recommended for failure detection. Experience has shown that the time response of temperatures to most types of bearing failure modes is too slow to be effective in preventing secondary damage.

Oil filter bypass remote electrical signals can be used but may not be necessary. The impending bypass pop-out red button has been very useful on the T700 lube oil filter. The button is checked at least daily during preflight and/or postflight inspections by the crew chief. Because of this frequent checking, the actual bypass remote electrical signal has never been actuated except by cold oil when the sensor thermal lockout device failed. There is some question, therefore, as to the future need for a remote lube oil bypass signal. If the daily inspections are deleted, the remote signal will be very useful.

Spectrometer analysis (SOAP) is a worthwhile failure detection technique if oil system filtration is 25 microns or greater. With oil filtration down to 3 microns absolute as with the T700 engine, SOAP proved to be ineffective, as did the electro-optical oil analysis.

Magnetic chip detection has proven extremely effective on the T700 engine for early detection of bearing problems (see Task I). An improved device that can discriminate between random manufacturing chips, normal "fuzz", and debris from spalling type conditions is badly needed, however, to reduce the auisance signals which outnumber the failure signals by over 2 to 1.

Performance

HIT (Health Indication Test) check procedures as described under Task III are ideally suited to FADEC/D&CM systems and are recommended as a means of detecting gross performance problems affecting safety of flight. HIT check accomplishment electronically is a contribution to flight safety because it requires less pilot attention. Performance trend analysis requires consistently accurate data taken periodically over many hundreds of hours. It is done routinely by commercial airlines and has been done on military engines in the test cell environment and by MATS and SAC in an operating environment approaching that of the airlines. A study is required to determine if performance trend analysis is feasible or cost effective in the Army's operational environment as an adjunct of a future D&CM system which produces recorded data.

Modular performance fault isolation "on the wing" is a potentially valuable feature of a D&CM system that could enable the determination of which engine module is responsible for a measured loss in overall performance. The feasibility of accomplishing this on an operational Army engine has not been demonstrated and may be difficult with the limited instrumentation normally available on an installed engine. There are technical approaches that should be explored in depth to provide a basis for determining the practicality of modular performance fault isolation.

Stall detection by a D& CM system on most engines, including the T700, is not required to warn the pilot - he can hear the event. D& CM stall detection would be required in order to trigger a recording of data at the instant of its occurrence and ideally to save those snapshots of data taken before the event in order to diagnose the reason for the stall if diagnosis is desired. It is doubtful if a computer program to perform such a diagnosis would be of practical value in operational service because of the very low predicted frequency of stall events based on recent T700 engine history.

Hot Section

Low cycle fatigue (LCF) and stress rupture life of turbine components are essential measurements for the implementation of on-condition maintenance on military aircraft engines. It is well documented that many military engine problems in the past have stemmed from engine operation far different from that for which they were designed. Measurement of LCF speed cycles and time-temperature stress rupture effects on hot parts provides more accurate measures of ongine life used than measurement of engine hours alone. Engine hours is also recommended as the traditional measure and the base to which LCF and stress rupture counts can be related to judge the relative severity of various aircraft missions.

Vibration monitoring and borescope inspection discussed elsewhere are also potontially valuable hot part diagnostic techniques.

Overspeed and overtemperature exceedances can be useful as measures of potential turbine damage when related to time of exposure of the exceedance. These limits can be easily stored in a digital computer in the form of curves similar to those supplied in operating and maintenance manuals.

Controls

Control system fault isolation to the LRU level currently involves four steps or functions:

- 1. Conduct signal validity checks to detect faulty sensors. If a failed sensor is detected, that sensor is the LRU to be replaced. If sensors are good, proceed to Step 2.
- 2. Detect engine exceedances such as speed, temperature, torque, and stability.
- 3. Track engine control schedules such as fuel schedules, VG, accel and decel, T4.5 limiting, and NG; detect out-of-limits schedules.
- 4. Utilize diagnostic logic programs and as many as 20 engine parameters to isolate the cause of an exceedance, instability, or schedule shift to the most likely control system LRU. In the event that the logic process identifies more than one faulty candidate, the LRU with the highest predicted failure rate is identified for replacement first.

The full potential of FADEC systems has yet to be explored. Functions 1 and 3 above are inherent in the GE FADEC concept. Further analysis and innovative design may show the way to accomplishing all of the controls D&CM functions within the FADEC unit, eliminating the need for separate D&CM equipment.

Inspection Finds

From 12.5 to 18% of the events in Table 10 are detected by visual inspection. These figures include both borescope and external visual inspections done at preflight and postflight. In most of the cases analyzed, external visual or borescope inspection was the only means of detection. A general conclusion drawn from the analyzed cases is that 10 to 15% of the failure events requiring some maintenance action will not be detected by any current state-of-the-art D&CM system or sensor. In other words, the most efficient automated D&CM system today can be expected to detect only 85 to 90% of the failure events.

External visual inspection finds include the following discrepancies:

- 1. Internal defects revealed by borescope.
- 2. FOD at engine inlet.

- 3. Fuel and oil leaks, loose or missing plugs and caps.
- 4. Cracked, bent, or damaged brackets, tubes, and links.
- 5. Loose fittings, electrical connectors, and accessories.
- 6. Fluid levels, pop-out indicators, and VG position transmitters.
- 7. Contaminated chip detectors.

Borescope inspection effectiveness is a function of many factors. If effectiveness is defined as the probability of finding a given mechanical defect in the compressor vanes and blades, combustor, or turbine, then effectiveness is a function of the following factors:

- 1. Number and location of borescope ports.
- 2. Percent of target part viewable from nearest port.
- 3. Skill and patience of operator.
- 4. Quality and condition of instrument.
- 5. Quality of instructions and illustrations to identify fault appearance.
- 6. Indications from other sources of where the fault is likely to be located.
- 7. Frequency of inspection.
- 8. Size of engine,
- 9. Failure propagation rate.

With so many variables, the effectiveness is different for each engine dosign, oporator, and engine part. Large engines have greater potential for borescope inspection because of more space for ports, greater distance between blades and vanes for inserting borescope, and using larger instruments. D&CM can be a positive influence for improving borescope inspection effectiveness in factor 6 above through such techniques as LCF and stress rupture life measurement and vibration monitoring.

Compressor and Fan

Monitoring of compressor and fan (cold section module) involves methods already covered in the preceding discussion as follows:

Rotor Balance	- Vibration
Stall	- Performance
LCF	- Same speed excursion counting as for hot parts
VG	- Control monitoring
FOD	- Vibration or pilot detection of characteristic sound

Monitoring for overpressure on T700 compressor and combustion casings is not recommended. Any predictable engine fault would not cause a damaging compressor discharge overpressure.

LCF pressure cycle counting is not recommended for T700 or similar engines. The compressor and combustion cases are not life limited and require no special monitoring.

Miscellaneous

Ultrasonics have no practical application for in-flight monitoring.

Radiography is an effective nondestructive inspection technique for large commercial modular ongines. For small engines, the special restrictions on handling of radioactive pollets, special personnel training, and special equipment required make this technique very unattractive. It is easier, except in very special circumstances, to disassemble an engine than to take isotope photos and analyze them to detect mechanical abnormalities.

Transient condition monitoring is not recommended because of the large data storage capacity and large amount of complex data analysis which would be required.

Electrostatic probe exhaust analysis for detecting gas path problems is not recommended at this time. This technique utilizes a magnetic probe to detect evidence of metallic debris in the exhaust gas; the system is still in the early development phase and is showing promise.

Mechanical signal analysis is an analytical technique to detect and isolate mechanical anomalies using recorded mechanical vibration and accoustic signatures of machines. The complexity of the signatures and of the analytical techniques involved has discouraged most investigators from attempting to apply these techniques to field service problems and consequently is not recommended for an Army D&CM system.

DIAGNOSTIC METHODS CATEGORIES

Table 11 represents an initial screening of the diagnostic methods reviewed in the preceding pages and categorizes them in accordance with their monitoring requirements. The largo number of recommended diagnostic methods that can be implemented using signals and sensors already available in a turboshaft FADEC control is the significant message in this tabulation.

Method and Requirements	Diagnostic Methods
Utilizes parameters and signals	Performance Monitoring
common to digital engine controls.	Low Cycle Fatigue
	Stress Rupture (creep)
	Control Schedules
	Sensor Signal Checks
	LRU Fault Isolation
Requires dedicated signal condition-	Vibration
ing.	Particle Detectors (some)
	Ionized Particle Detection*
Requires parameters not common	Oil System Monitoring
to digital engine controls.	Vibration
	Particle Detectors
Utilizes special (ground) equip-	Borescopy
ment.	Radiography*
	Spectroscopy (SOAP)*
	Ultrasonics*
	Mechanical Signal Analysis*
	Electric-Optical Oil Analysis*
External inspection.	FOD - Inlet Inspection
	Fuel and Oil Leaks
· · · · ·	Loose, Damaged, Missing Parts
	Fluid Levels
	Magnetic Plug, Screen and Filter Inspection
*Not Recommended	

 $(A \cap E) = c$

÷

进动的来去器

TASK III - DIAGNOSTIC APPLICATION

The application of turboshaft engine diagnostic and monitoring techniques involves close coordination between the engine manufacturer, the using service, and the airframe manufacturer. Human factors engineering considerations must be applied to the choice of D&CM system displays and logic. A typical example is found in the following section which describes three Health Indication Test (HIT) monitoring systems and the trade-off choices which balance pilot attention and involvement against added D&CM system complexity. Similar trade-offs and decisions are inevitable in the design of fuel and control system fault isolation systems where human involvement in the logic process is traded off against increased system complexity. A further trade-off decision may be required in the design of the cockpit display for a discriminating type magnetic chip detector discussed in Task VII of this report.

Application of diagnostic and monitoring methods to an Army engine is a system problem with strong human factors overtones. Practical judgement to limit system complexity without overburdening the flight crews and maintenance personnel should be the design objective.

This section covers methods and techniques which permit meeting the following engine diagnostic and condition monitoring objectives:

- 1. Engine Health Indication Tests (HIT).
- 2. Fuel Control System Fault Detection and Isolation.
- 3. Low Cycle Fatigue and Hot Part Monitoring.
- 4. Storage of Flight Diagnostic Data.
- 5. Storage of Mission Cycle Data.

INDICATION OF ENGINE HEALTH (PERFORMANCE) WITHOUT GROUND TIEDOWN TEST OR HIT CHECK FLIGHTS

The health of a turboshaft engine can be measured by an electronic health monitor function utilizing less than half of the same digital signals required for operating a FADEC control. No added engine sensors are required based on the current FADEC functional design. On the other hand, in order to isolate the performance fault to the module level, there are a number of parametric relationships that can be used as engine health indicators. The relation of output power to power turbine inlet temperature is the most straightforward and is applicable to practically all turboshaft engines. Both functions would be corrected to standard conditions and compared with either the engine specification performance or a stored function representing each engine's "as new" performance. The actual performance could be recorded for later ground analysis or trending and some form of message would be displayed to the pilot: go/no-go or in a sophisticated system either horsepower or percent of specification power (Measured HP/Specification HP) x 100, for that operating point.

Several options exist for helicopter turboshaft engine electronic health monitoring systems, depending on the degree of automation desired. The more automation, the more complex the hardware and software required, but the less dependence on pilot procedures for getting valid data. Three systems are described in the following paragraphs as Systems A, B, and C and are of decreasing degrees of automation.

<u>System A - Horsepower Versus Measured Turbine Inlet Temperature</u> (see Figure 2)

Parameters (HP vs T4.5)

P0 - Pressure AltitudePT2 - Compressor Inlet Total Pressure

T4.5 - Gas Generator Discharge Temperature T2 - Compressor Inlet Temperature

Q - Output Torque

NP - Low-Pressure Turbine Speed

With System A, a health check could be made either automatically when a predetermined "window" or set of alreraft and engine conditions were reached, or on pilot's command. Since all the essential parameters would be provided to the airborne computer to correct for altitude, ambient temperature, and airspeed, the pilot would not be required to conduct the health check on the ground or at a specific set of conditions. What is required, however, is a state f thermal stability. The degree to which this condition is achieved has an overriding influence on the result. The time-temperature conditions for each engine design may be quite different; however, 30 seconds is believed to be the minimum time for a health check at power levels at or near maximum continuous. For a more accurate measure, as for performance trend analysis, stabilization times of 2 minutes or more are probably required.



Figure 2. Horsepower versus Measured Low-Pressure Turbine Inlet Temperature - System A.

Control of Stabilization Time

The FADEC-D&CM computer diagnostic logic would require either flowchart 1 or 2 of Figure 3 proceeding the health check. If the same health check were recorded and saved for long-term trend analysis, a more restrictive procedure might be required as shown in Figure 4.

In summary, System A should be able to perform HIT check without tiedown or check flights, if the mission profile provided a high enough power setting for a long enough time. Current HIT check for the T700 engine specifies that T4.5 s) ould be at least 650°C with NP=100% for 30 seconds or more for a simple check. For trending, T4.5 would be higher and time at T4.5 would also be longer --probably 2 to 5 minutes.

The principal advantages of System A are:

1. Requires minimum attention by the pilot--a definite contribution to flight safety.



IS T4.5>600°C NO YES CALCULATE f(T4.50*TIME) = TM IS TM > 300? NO YES DO HEALTH CHECK

Figure 5. FADEC-D&CM Computer Diagnostic Logic Function.



Figure 4. Long-Term Trend Analysis Logic.

2. Provides more accurate data:

a. Eliminates human error.

b. Prevents erroneous data caused by inadequate stabilization time.

System B - Torque Versus Turbine Inlet Temperature (See Figure 7)

	(Q vs T4.5)
P0 T4.5	Q N P - Controlled and monitored by
T 2	pilot

Parameters

 $f(Q/\delta)$ vs $f(T4.5/\theta)$ and T4.5 * Time (for Thermal Stability)

System B, like System A, would provide cockpit go/no-go engine health indication and recording (if desired). Also it would not require the pilot's attention to read and record data. It does have two limitations, however:

- 1. The pilot would be responsible for setting NP at 100% (or some other predetormined value) and keeping it there until after the "Go" indication is received (based on steady-state time-tomperature function).
- 2. The health check must be made on the ground or at hover since the parameter PT2 to account for flight speed is not provided.





(2 15 12)	
NP T4.5	Controlled by pilot.
	NP T4.5

System C - Torque Versus Compressor Inlet Temperature (See Figure 8)

 $f(Q/\delta)$ vs f(T2) and Time * T4.5

System C would provide cockpit go/no-go engine health indication and recording. The pilot is not required to record data or refer to curves from the engine Operator's Manual to determine the engine health status. This system also requires less on-board computer capacity than A or B. It has the following limitations:

- 1. The pilot would be responsible for setting NP at 100% and maintaining it there (avoiding transients) until "Go" signal is received.
- 2. The pilot must also adjust collective pitch to maintain T4.5 at some predetermined value at or above 650°C for the required time.

3. The health check must be made on the ground or at hover.

SYSTEM C.

PARAMETRIC RELATIONSHIP





System A computations can be performed in the FADEC unit with minor effect on its required memory capacity. HIT checks currently specified for the T700 UTTAS and AAH aircraft follow System C procedures, except that the readings are all manual.

FUEL CONTROL SYSTEM FAULT DETECTION AND ISOLATION CAPABILITY TO LINE REPLACEABLE UNIT (LRU) LEVEL

The T700 engine control system is not a module. It is a number of LRU's, some mounted on the Accessory Gearbox and consequently part of the Accessory Module, others mounted on and part of both the Cold Section and Hot Section Modules.

Control system fault detection and isolation in a current technology system can be achieved by an engine diagnostic system in the following manner:

- 1. Data from the engine and aircraft sensors will be recorded while the engine is in operation, either in flight or on the ground.
- Computer-based diagnostic logic routines similar to the troubleshooting procedures presented in Chapter 1 of the T700-GE-700 Engine Maintenance Manual³ will automatically detect and record and isolate control system faults. (See Figure 7.)
- 3. Messages will be generated and displayed directing maintenance personnel to the most appropriate maintenance action. These maintenance actions can include further testing or measurement, as the recorded in-flight data may have to be supplemented in order to achieve the appropriate level of LRU fault detection and isolation.

A FADEC, with its control parameters already in digital form suitable for recording, provides the best opportunity for cost effective control-fault diagnosis relative to other types of engine controls. The FADEC system by design intent will minimize the number of centrol system LBU's by combining functions expediting troubleshooting. Current hydromechanical systems with analog electronics require complex systems to achieve all condition monitoring functions. First-generation FADEC systems with hydromechanical backups will reduce the difficulty of fault detection and isolation by:



- Providing all signals in a digital format
- Accomplishing sensor failure detection via FICA
- Accomplishing computer fault detection by self-test functions.

Additional study is required for future FADEC designs to attempt to increase the inherent fault detection. Increased fault detection will allow the control to determine corrective action so the engine can continue to operate under certain failure situations. Corrective action through redundancy and alternative control strategies will improve control system reliability. The fault detection and isolation effectiveness of a system can be assessed only through a detailed analysis of LRU failure modes and their associated failure symptoms. Analysis methods have been developed and employed with significant success in other engine diagnostic system studies, notably the F404-GE-400 Engine Condition Monitoring System (ECMS) study.⁵ While this method was developed for current systems, it can be applied to future systems with slight modification. The method for identifying a practical and cost-effective system for control system fault detection and isolation will contain the following elements:

- 1. <u>Fault Tree</u>: A fault tree listing all major predicted failures will be constructed as follows (see Figure 8 for example):
 - a. The failure event in the top tier is one of any primary engine failure events associated with an engine operating condition.
 - b. Subsequent tier failure events identify those subordinate faults that contribute to the primary failure event.
 - c. The items listed under the bottom tier are those LRU's whose failure can cause the indicated engine failure events.
- 2. <u>Quantify Fault Tree:</u> The fault tree will be quantified by assigning failure rates to each of the top tier failure events and also to low tier events. Then to each of the lower tier events must be assigned the failure rates from each of the control LRU's that could contribute to that particular engine failure event. Figure 8 is a simple example of such a fault tree with the lower tier events shown with the contributing LRU's listed under each event. The failure rate contribution of each LRU must be estimated for each event such that the total and preducted failure rate for each LRU is accounted for.

⁵Jordan, H.J., F404 ENGINE CONDITION MONITORING SYSTEM (ECMS) STUDY, General Electric Co., Lynn, MA, R77AEG028, 15 April 1977.



. 67

£.92°

3. Logic Diagram: Logic diagrams are troubleshooting procedures that rely on available engine and aircraft parameters and knowledge of engine operating characteristics to isolate the malfunctioning engine components. In those cases where fault isolation is to a group of components, that component with the highest failure rate is selected as the most probable failed LRU. These logic diagrams are written as algorithms in a format suitable to conversion to computer code (see Figure 9 for example). Computer programs representative of these logic diagrams will be resident in either an airborne or ground diagnostic unit or some combination of both. This program will function as a result of the values of the condition monitoring parameters. The airborne and/or ground diagnostic units will perform fault detection and isolation automatically in a manner similar to the troubleshooting procedures presented in Chapter 1 of the T700-GE-700 Engine Maintenance Manual⁴ (see Figure 7).

The logic diagrams allow an assessment of the utility of the engine condition monitoring parameters in terms of fault detection and isolation. This assessment can lead to the identification of parameters not previously considered or the elimination of parameters with low utility (see Table 12).

- 4. <u>Effectiveness</u>: Fault detection and isolation effectiveness will be assessed for one or more proposed condition monitoring systems. Human factors considerations (man-machino interface) will be part of this assessment.
- 5. <u>Life-Cycle Cost (LCC)</u>: An LCC analysis will be made for each proposed system to assess the net cost savings (or losses) attributable to a proposed system throughout the engine life cycle. In general, it compares the payoff of a condition monitoring system, in terms of net reduced maintenance costs, with invostment design, engineering, and production costs.
- 6. <u>Additional System Assessment Criteria</u>: The evaluation of proposed condition monitoring systems will include an assessment of the system impact on engine weight, reliability, maintainability, and envelope.

This methodology will provide a sound basis for decision making and avoid, to the extent possible, subjective judgements.



	TABLE 12. CANDIDATE PARAMETERS FOR FUEL CONTROL SYSTEM MONITORING
Symbol	Description
NG	Gas generator speed is required to detect overspeed conditions and, in conjunction with other parameters, detect fuel control system faults.
NP	Power turbine speed is required to detect overspeed conditions and, in combination with other parameters, detect and isolate fuel con- trol system faults. It is also used with Q1 to compute horsepower.
T4.5	Gas generator turbine discharge temperature is required to detect overtemperature conditions. In combination with other parameters, it is used for hot parts life-used indication and fuel control fault detection and isolation (D&I).
T4. 5R	Gas generator turbine discharge reference temperature provides a reference for hot parts life-used monitoring and control fault D&I.
PS 3	Compressor discharge static pressure is essential to monitor mod- ular performance fault isolation and to count pressure cycles for LCF considerations. It is also used with other parameters for fuel control fault detection and isolation.
Q1	No. 1 engine torque is required for horsepower computation and with other parameters to D&I fuel and load-share control faults and indi- cate engine health.
Q2	No. 2 engine torque is required in conjunction with other parameters to D&I load-share faults.
T2	Compressor inlet temperature is required to allow corrected speed to be calculated. Corrected speed is the basis for many of the con- trol schedules and is essential in determining control schedule out of-limit conditions. 12 is also used to correct other performance parameters used in monitoring performance deterioration.
PT2	Compressor inlet total pressure is used to correct engine power for deterioration monitoring and with other parameters to D&I fuel system faults through FICA.

4

7

CALC: N

60

.....

.

š

÷.,

	TABLE 12 - Continued
Symbol	Description
AI ·	Anti-icing value position is monitored to detect schedule deviation and is used by FICA to determine performance in conjunction with other parameters.
WFD	The fuel flow demand signal is used to determine the scheduled fuel demand signal.
D S	The load demand signal is monitored to isolate "linkage" faults from schedule errors.
NPD	The power turbine speed demand is monitored to isolate "linkage" problems from schedule errors.
os	The overspeed (OS) signal will allow ECU OS function to be checked out at a safe operating speed.
СВ	The customer bleed signal is used during engine health assessment and control schedule checks.
WF FB	The fuel flow feedback signal serves the primary fuel flow indication signal and is used to detect fuel scheduling faults.
VG FB	The variable geometry feedback signal is used as an indication of VG position. It is used to detect control scheduling faults.
PAS	The power available signal is monitored to isolate input problems from schedule problems.
FWF BP	The fuel filter by-pass signal is used to detect fuel system coatam- ination and prevent possible fuel control system failure.
VGD	Variable geometry domand is used to D&I VG control faults.

LOW CYCLE FATIGUE AND HOT PART MONITORING

Counting and recording of low cycle fatigue cycles is a simple procedure that can be accomplished using engine parameters NG (core speed) and PS3 (compressor discharge pressure). Speed cycles measure rotating part LCF life for compressor and turbine discs and blades. PS3 cycles measure combustion and compressor casing LCF life used. A computer can be programmed to cound speed and pressure excursions and store the accumulated cycle counts. Periodically, depending on airborne data storage capacity, the airborne stored data can be transferred to a ground storage unit and added to previously stored data for the appropriate serial numbered engine and/or serialized engine modules and parts. The LCF cycles counted for current GE engines, which utilize speed signals, are as follows:

LCF No. 1 NG (Start) - NG (95% IRP) - NG (Shutdown)

LCF No. 2 NG (86% IRP) - NG (95% IRP) - NG (86% IRP)

The logic to perform these functions is simple. Representative algorithms prepared for a typical modern engine are shown on Figures 10 and 11. T700 does not use PS3 cycles because the two casings are not estimated to be pressure cycle limited. The CITS system on the B-1 bomber mis provisions for counting PS3 pressure cycles for the F101 engine.

The availability of on-board digital computer capacity, either within the FADEC unit or in an advanced digital Engine History Recorder, provides the opportunity to utilize a much more sophisticated LCF speed cycle counting technique. GE recommends that such a system be developed and utilized for future turboshaft engine condition monitoring. A number of similar logic systems for cycle counting have been suggested, three of which are cited below in references 6, 7, 8. All methods are designed to count major cycles – start to IRP, and convert partial cycles to equivalent full cycles. A further sophistication would relate the effect of partial and full cycles to a number of rotating parts within the engine, some of

⁶Salt, T. L., "Evaluation of Flight Mission Severity in Cumulative Damage", R & M Proceedings, Los Angeles, CA, 1971, AIAA/SAE/ASME, 10th Annual Conference.

⁷Power, E. M., "Cycle Counting Mothods and the Development of Block Load Fatigue Programs", SAE paper 780102, 3/27/78.

³Leever, R. C., "A User's View of Fatigue Life Fredictions", SAE paper 780105, 3/27/78.

which may react differently to the partial cycles than others. Major and partial cycles have been computed successfully in an on-board computer by GE. The final choice of logic program would require further study and could involve a trade-off decision between required computer capacity and cycle counting accuracy.

Hot part monitoring is normally applied to a critical turbine part, most often the Stage 1 high-pressure turbine rotor blade. The life characteristic to be measured is stress rupture life - a function of the rotating speed, blade metal temperature, time at temperature, and the blade material characteristics. FADEC calculates T3 and T4. 1 (high-pressure turbine blade cooling air temperature and inlet temperature respectively) from which Stage 1 turbine blade metal temperature can be easily computed. A characteristic curve of blade metal temperature versus stress rupture life in minutes and hours can be stored in the computer and a count technique developed to accumulate numbers at a rate inversely proportional to the stress rupture life point at which the engine is operating. Through experience, a total count number at which the blades should be carefully inspected - perhaps at 75% of estimated stress rupture life - will be established. This "On-Condition Maintenance" technique is a preventive maintenance process already well proven in service that can be very cost effective in preventing in-flight turbine failure, as well as premature removals.

LCF and hot part monitoring, as stated proviously, are both necessary techniques for modular fault isolation related primarily to the rotating parts and the turbine nozzle partitions. By these techniques and good computerized or other recordkeeping system, specific critical serialized parts in each of the three modules compressor, HP turbine and LP turbine - can be monitored for life used and inspected and/or replaced on a planned basis to avoid inflight failures or unscheduled maintenance.





STORAGE OF FLIGHT EVENTS FOR GROUND TROUBLESHOOTING ANALYSIS TO THE MODULE AND LRU LEVEL

There are three basic types of data storage for ground troubleshooting:

- 1. Exceedance data storage.
- 2. "Window" data storage.
- 3. Command data storage.

Exceedance Data Storage

Exceedance data storage consists of recording a complete set of data of all engine and aircraft parameters automatically whenever a single parameter such as speed or vibration or a monitored function such as a control schedule (T5 vs NG) exceeds a pre-set limit or band. It is desirable, further, to preserve several seconds of data prior to the instant of the exceedance as well as after the exceedance. If, for example, data samples are taken at 1/4-second intervals, the rocorded data available for analysis could include 12 sets of data before and after the exceedance (3 seconds before, 3 seconds after). This can be accomplished if all data is put into a "scratch pad momory" unit originally and then erased if no exceedance occurs within 3 seconds. If an exceedance does occur, the stored data plus another 3 seconds worth after the exceedance is saved and transforred to a nonvolatile momory unit. Examples of useful exceedance follow:

1. Overspeed - each rotor.

2. Overtemperature (including hot starts).

- 3. Vibration.
- 4. Lube pressure.
- 5. Low power.
- 6. Control schedules.
- 7. Instability.
- 8. Oil contamination.

- 9. Engine stall. (Not found to be necessary on T700.)
- 10. Turbine-time at temperature.

"Window" Data Storage

"Window" data storage refers to data taken primarily for performance and mechanical trend analysis. The "window(s)" are a predetermined set of aircraft and engine conditions that the aircraft normally achieves on each flight at which a data set is automatically recorded for comparison on the ground with previous data. Such analysis has been extremely useful to commercial airline operators for detecting engine degradation and detecting incipient failure, as well as predicting ongine removals for overhaul. Military ongine users should also find this data useful, although the rate of accumulation of engine hours is much lower and presently the military services do not have systems in place to store and process such data. The type of data most useful for this purpose would be vibration, performance parameters, and possibly acceleration and deceleration times.

Command Data Storage

Command data storage is data sets taken on command of the pilot to record some condition which he suspects is abnormal or which, during a maintenance check flight, he is instructed to record for use in a particular troubleshooting procedure to confirm corrective maintenance action.

STORAGE OF MISSION CYCLE DATA FOR ANALYSIS

Mission cycle data is generally of two types:

- 1. Life used data as previously described in the section titled Low Cycle Fatigue and Hot Part Monitoring.
- 2. Typical mission and cycle data describing how the aircraft and engines are operated by the pilot to perform prescribed tactical missions.

Typical mission cycle data would consist of a time history of all the pertinent aircraft conditions such as altitude, airspeed, rotor speed, throttle position, collective pitch positions, etc., and the time duration of each condition. Concurrently, similar data would be recorded for the engine, including such things as T5, torque, NG, fuel flow, and vibration. This data would not only document the duty cycle for such types of tactical missions, but could document how individual pilots flew the same mission. This type of data would not be suitable for general use for

obvious reasons: airborne data storage requirements may be excessive, the mass of data to be analyzed and saved would become unwieldy, and the data would not be useful for general maintenance and troubleshooting purposes. It would be extremely useful when taken by a few "fleet leader" aircraft in support of logistics planning, pilot training, product or life improvement programs, or special troubleshooting programs involving fleet-wide problems.

TASK IV - FULL AUTHORITY DIGITAL ELECTRONIC CONTROL (FADEC) DESIGN IDENTIFICATION

A functional baseline FADEC system is defined for the T700 engine in this portion of this study. This system maintains the same logic and functions as the current T700 system and, therefore, has twin-engine and single-engine performance the same as, or better than, the proven T700 system. A FICA system is part of the FADEC system, which increases reliability without affecting its performance. It is necessary to define the FADEC system in sufficient detail to make it part of the computer simulation used to determine FICA capabilities. The results of this simulation work are reported as part of Task V.

FADEC SYSTEM

The required functions of the advanced turboshaft engine are assumed to be the same as the T700 system requirements. Table 13 lists the functional system requirements for the T700, showing which engine-mounted components accomplish each function. Figure 12 provides a schematic of the current T700 control system.

The FADEC system must perform all computational functions of the current system. The FADEC unit is the signal processing and digital computational center for the system. Therefore, as seen in Table 13 and Figure 13, all computational functions will be handled by the FADEC unit. For this study, the T700 schedules and dynamics were used in the FADEC system. Figure 14 shows the schematic layout of the FADEC unit. Even though there were no logic changes, FADEC provides performance improvement because some nonlinearities, such as NG governor hystoresis, are eliminated through electronic processing.

The FICA concept is an integral part of the control system to provide necessary reliability to the FADEC system. FICA, through computational methods, eliminates the need for redundant sensors by utilizing the redundant information that exists when all sensors are considered as a group. The FICA calculations are accomplished within the FADEC unit, thus improving the D&CM-FADEC integration.

Table 14 is a list of candidate parameters for the D&CM system on an engine with a FADEC. This shows which parameters are expected to be required by the FADEC system, which by the D&CM system and if these signals would be available within the current 1700 system. It is estimated that:

TABLE 13. CONTROL SYSTEM FUNCTIONS

T700

Advanced Turboshaft

ELECTRICAL CONTROL UNIT (ECU)

NP governing - (HMU trim).

Load sharing during NP governing by torque matching.

T4.5 limiting - (HMU trim).

NP overspeed - redundant sensor and power.

HYDROMECHANICAL UNIT (HMU)

NG governing - Ground Idle and Topping.

Acceleration-Deceleration scheduling.

VG scheduling.

Load anticipation - NG scheduling by LDS.

NG overspeed - (shuts system down).

Fuel flow delivery.

VG actuation.

Backup control (manual selection by PAS).

SEQUENCE VALVE

NP overspeed fuel delivery.

Fuel system pressurizing and draining.

HISTORY RECORDER

Engine histo ; calculations.

Counter storage.

FADEC

NP governing.

Load sharing during NP governing by torque matching.

T4.5 limiting.

NP overspeed - redundant sensor and power. Engine history calculations.

NG governing - Ground Idle and Topping.

Acceleration-Deceleration scheduling.

VG scheduling.

Load anticipation - NG scheduling by LDS.

NG overspeed - redundant sonsor and power (if required).

HYDROMECHANICAL UNIT (IIMU)

Fuel flow delivery.

VG actuation.

Backup control (most transfers automatic).

NP overspeed fuel delivery.

Fuel system pressurizing and draining.

HISTORY RECORDER

Counter storage.
TABLE 14. CANDIDATE FADEC AND D&CM SIGNALS

Description Ducku ties Control to the state of the s		190.000							Interfa Categorizz	ce	
 T. T. T. T. T. T. Comparison for Tearry 1. T. T. T. T. T. T. T. Comparison for Tearry 1. T. T. T. T. T. Comparison for Tearry 1. T. T. T. T. Comparison for Tearry 1. T. T. T. T. Comparison for Tearry 1. T. T. T. T. T. Comparison for Tearry 1. T. T. T. T. T. Comparison for Tearry 1. T. T. T. T. T. Comparison for Tearry 1. T. T. T. T. T. Comparison for the transmit of transmit of the transmit of transmit of	Parasan	and the statements	Tac PC	0. 2007	r en setate de la composition de la com La composition de la co La composition de la c	filtanneter Start f	DEC	Contro, Use	No.A-D Conversion Dedicated Britatianing	Condition For Control Specialized	Estimated Accuracy for Control D&CM
T: 7 9 K. K. F. K. Compressed fact Transfer Manual Values in the Antoners in the Antoer in the Antoer in th	Carton Braken In	1				No					
The first f	40		א	н		Compress bile Tempera-	Correct Control and Performance Parameters	Schedul / Parameters	× ,	' ×	±6°F
K First Fir	E		•	H	H	test Tatal Pressary	Correct Performance Parameters for Monitorias	ZCA	×	×	1%
Ki Wie Filt K A constraint before Overweet One relation for each in the filter of the filter			. B	H H	ч. Н н	kalitai Parsena (hiande) Put Centruise (hand	With P72 for Plight Velocity Overreed Detection, Detect Free System Public	FICA Governize and Scheduling	×× ××	, , ××	1 = 5% = 401%
N1: 0: T: X Constraint fibration Constraint fibration <td< td=""><td></td><td>•</td><td></td><td>¥</td><td>¥.</td><td>Prove Tratta Speed</td><td>Ortespeed Detection, Englise Health Detect</td><td>Governing, NP</td><td>×</td><td>' **</td><td>- 1% 51.0</td></td<>		•		¥	¥.	Prove Tratta Speed	Ortespeed Detection, Englise Health Detect	Governing, NP	×	' **	- 1% 51.0
PS Fest N X Comparison function Letter form Accel tand Decel X X Comparison function X X X Comparison function X X Comparison function X <thx< th=""> <thx< th=""> X</thx<></thx<>	74.5 05			ĸ	M	Cas Grueriar Discarge	Orstemperature Detection, Ed. Part Life,	T4.5 Limiting	×	' X	±20°F
Prime Prime <th< td=""><td>640 E84</td><td>ىدېشىنا قۇر</td><td>à</td><td>×</td><td>X</td><td>Tamperiste Construction Weighter David</td><td>Detect Control bysizes: Furits ILCF Frenciere Creise Durect Stat Bostem</td><td>Accel and Decel</td><td>×</td><td>×</td><td>tt 5 to 2 df of Beadd</td></th<>	640 E84	ىدېشىنا قۇر	à	×	X	Tamperiste Construction Weighter David	Detect Control bysizes: Furits ILCF Frenciere Creise Durect Stat Bostem	Accel and Decel	×	×	tt 5 to 2 df of Beadd
0 Trist Torgen (Exploreda, 1) Factor (An, 1)		a-4-	<u>مـ</u>			Frentier	. Prote	Scheduling		1	
Nu <	ėi Əl	anar A d		N D	N J	Horyar (Funda So, 15 Minist Franks, 55 A	Partice Rivity , Lettert Part, System Paults	Lord Eharing	×	**	****
Life Life Life Life Life Life Life Perer Carcel System Faults Perer Carcel System Fau	274 274	·-	ı X	ċн		Power Avelantia format	Devel Correct Series Parits	Establish Control Mode	• •	• • • ×	125
Private	LIN CE	4 %1	3	4	H	Lond . North Rent	Perset Control System Faults	Provide Anticipation	י א:	, ×	155
21 1 </td <td>No.</td> <td></td> <td>#1></td> <td>RI</td> <td>H</td> <td>Print of the second sec</td> <td>Detset Carried System Faults</td> <td>NP Governing Reference</td> <td>×</td> <td>, ×:</td> <td>•</td>	No.		#1>	RI	H	Print of the second sec	Detset Carried System Faults	NP Governing Reference	×	, ×:	•
King	N.	.	 	R 1-	 		Detect Control System Faults	Reset O/5 Reference	• •	, ×>	•
7770 PM: K X Fast Frankick Detect Fast System Faults Fuel Flow Scheduling X 7770 PM: K X X Kurthis Towency Facture Detect Control System Faults Vol Scheduling X X 7770 PM: K X X Fast Fast Fast Fast Fast Fast Fast Fast		÷ .		' H	1 24	Easter Anti- Anton	Region Realth, Detect Control System Paults	FICA	<	• • <×	
Monte K <td>ad Bask</td> <td></td> <td> 21 2</td> <td>H ></td> <td>(4.5</td> <td>Flore Flore Freedbalch</td> <td>Detert Fuel System Faalts</td> <td>Fuel Flow Scheduling</td> <td>، (۲</td> <td>, X</td> <td>41.5% at Calibration</td>	ad Bask		 21 2	H >	(4.5	Flore Flore Freedbalch	Detert Fuel System Faalts	Fuel Flow Scheduling	، (۲	, X	41.5% at Calibration
Control Marken Status WTD Drei V WTD Drei Drei	121 01 11		1	4	ł	A STREET, STRE		A u scneduling	•	•	×1, 5% at Calibration
With With With With Comp. Prior Rest Rest Rest Rest Rest Rest Rest Rest	CALIFOR ORDER		- 1		、						
0.00 U F X Developed beauf	E P		22	HÞ	H >	Fact Flow Bronand Stratistic Constant, Special	Detect 7 acred System Faatts	WF Requested of HMU	, ×>	' ×>	•
FC X X FUbbre Cate Fubbre Cate Fubbre Cate Fubbre Michae		•	4 #4	**	 . H	Construction of the second	D" en Control System Fuelts	C & Actuation to	 	• • • ×	
The first is the first of the first is t				,	• • •			Sequence Valve	1	;	
The serve of the server of				ł	4				•	•	•
PL PCM P. PCMORT 1. Control 1. C	TENSING DUCK	1 . a ga an	۶.								
The first of the second barrier of the second bar		ها هو		• :	Hə	Late OI Presser	Monthar Lube System	•	××	, ,	±2% Full Sc
T. B.P. K. Lefe Of Fitter By-Paris Member Juster Contrastinition NWP B.P. K. K			 4 •				Munitur Latter Bratem		• •		+20 F
WF B. F. K. Wai Fliter BData Monthan Fool Fliter Contractantion X WCD K. K. Mutter BData Monthan Fool Fliter Contractantion X VL4 K. K. Mutter DData Monthan Fool Fliter Contractantion X VL4 K. K. Mutter DData Monthan Fool K V14 K. K. K. Mutter DData Monthan Fool Fig File K. K. Mutter D. K Fig File K. Monthan Fool K File K. K. Monthan Fool K K. K. K. K K K. K. K K K K. K. K K K K. K. K K K <tr< td=""><td>4.8.11</td><td></td><td> u</td><td>•</td><td>H.</td><td>Lobe OAL PLILET By-PLILE</td><td>Mathar Lase Pitter Contamination</td><td>ŧ</td><td>×</td><td></td><td></td></tr<>	4.8.11		 u	•	H.	Lobe OAL PLILET By-PLILE	Mathar Lase Pitter Contamination	ŧ	×		
WILD YI & YY YI & YY YY YY YY YY YY YY YY YY YY			 	, ,	K 2	Fact Piller By-Pass	· Mututur Test Futer Contaction	4	' ×>		•
FP File Fuel Scores Parentere Exaction Boost: Parente X X FNS Fresh Fresh Exaction Scare Parentere Exaction Scare Parentere X X FNS Fresh Fresh Exaction Scare Parentere Exaction Scare Parentere Exaction Scare Parentere X X FNS Fresh Fresh Exaction Scare Parentere Exaction Scare Parentere Exaction Scare Parentere X X FNS F Componentere Exaction Scare Parentere Exaction Scare Parentere Exaction Scare Parentere X X FNS 6 F F Componentere Exaction Scare Parentere F X FNS 6 F F F Componentere Exaction Scare Parentere F X FNS 6 F F F F F F X FNS 6 F F F F F F X FNS 6 F F F F F X F 7 F F F F F F F 7 F F F F F F <td></td> <td>•</td> <td>i •</td> <td>• •</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>. Munitor Mechanders Lidertic</td> <td>1 1</td> <td>• • • •</td> <td>• ×</td> <td></td>		•	i •	• •			. Munitor Mechanders Lidertic	1 1	• • • •	• ×	
1950 ⁹ 7.5. K under the Frence Muttare Particle leparator KX Value K 150 65 • K (guine Easter coupt Madue Value Value Value Value Value Value V 150 65 • K Competition Madue Value Madue Value Value Value V Competition Madue Value	FP	ند. در	, •	•		Fuel South Press, Press, and	Licentrer Boost Presp	ŧ	×		- = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = =
KN Vola - X Kutten kanter torpet Madure Varier 150 05 - X Competition Kanter torpet Producty Required for Modular Pault Isolation - X Competition & the second second form & the second form - C - X MOTES II in Used column. M + second is consecond form	154 ASA1		•	•	e .	BIORNY DATCH PTERSORY	. Routhfar Inied Plantate Departmentor	1	×	•	
123. 65 · · · X · Compresson D'Actuart Proaction for Modular Fault isolation · · X · . Temperature Models I be Used columer. M · signal in mechanism for measuring for measuring.			 ,	•	K	Kutter Enter Says	Malar Preises	•	×	•	۲ ۹
addies 20 in Used calutat. M - sagest in mochanical form. E - strend to electrical form to Additional Math is required to deformine the morenative for missional form	130 051		ور وروستر و	•	H.	Hornweiter Dertichte	Process Reprint for Modular Fault Isolation	•	×	י ו	To be Defined
1401165 - 21 to Used column: M - stand in mechanical form. E - somethe descend form E - Additional study is required to setermine the necessity for measuring.	****	1	1		1						
		Card C	taliants.			antherical form. C - count t					
	ŀ				}	ter the line of the second s		•			





•





N.0. -

1. an 1.





- 1. Thirty-three signals are required for D&CM tasks.
- 2. Twenty-one ($\sim 64\%$) signals will be available in FADEC.
- 3. Eight signals would be available electrically in the current 1700 electrical control; however, most of these would require additional buffering.

Currently, it is anticipated that all D&CM signals, except vibration, would be processed in the FADEC unit. Grouping of signal processing and computations within FADEC will minimize cabling, as signals can be multiplexed to the airframe as required.

It is noted that FICA uses four signals, also required for D&CM, which are not T700 control system signals. The anti-icing (AI) signal is available as a simple on-off switch and requires no new sensor. The customer bleed (CB) sensor or signal is not defined, as CB effects on FICA were not considered in this contract. PT2 and PO are assumed as additional sensors; however, equivalent signals could probably be obtained from the airframe. FICA studies, discussed in the next section, indicate a potential for eliminating the PO from the control system.

The hydromechanical fuel interface and metering valve function are shown schematically in Figure 14. T700 dynamics were used for these components in our system study. No other hydromechanical details were developed, as they have minimum impact on this study.

SIMULATION

In order to determine the capabilities of the FICA system, it was necessary to model the FADEC system and analyze its effect on an engine. At the start of this program the best transfent T700 simulation was a nonlinear, partial dorivative, digital simulation. The FADEC and FICA designs were programmed and added to this engine simulation. The total system simulation with a dynamometer load was then capable of a variety of standard engine transfents. This simulation provided much valuable information, the results of which are discussed in the section on FICA. This simulation does have some limitations, since it does not account for customer bleed effects, off-design VG migration, and anti-icing.

During this study a more complex transient digital model became available which used a complete cycle calculation to simulate the engine. Even though not scheduled in the contract, the FADEC system was added to this new simulation which more accurately matches the engine cycle, including anti-icing and customer bleed. The more complex model was used to study the need to measure ambient pressure and the system performance at other flight conditions. The model is being updated to include off-design VG effects. When the updated model is available, it will be available for use in detailed FICA design studies.

FADEC HARDWARE

Based on T700 FADEC and GE18 development proposals, FADEC preliminary system hardware designs can be used to estimate the system performance and computer size. The following estimates are provided as guidelines in determining the D&CM impact on the FADEC system. The processor, which will be similar to the schematic shown in Figure 15, will use a 4,000 16 bit word memory. This is estimated to provide a loop update time of .005 to .007 second. Current design will have a constant loop update time regardless of path taken. D&CM calculations in general require less frequent update than do control functions. Therefore, if D&CM calculations were added to the FADEC computer they would not have to be made in each cycle. This provides a means of adding lengthy calculations with a minimum cycle time impact by spreading the calculations over several cycles. The estimates of D&CM impact on FADEC made during Task VI are based on preliminary algorithms. They were used only to provide guidelines in considoring the D&CM impact on FADEC.



Figure 15. Microprocessor Schematic

TASK V - FAILURE INDICATION AND CORRECTIVE ACTION (FICA)

OVERVIEW

In order to prevent loss of power modulation in the event of a failed sensor, an automatic failure indication and corrective action (FICA) strategy developed by General Electric Co. was implemented to work as part of the FADEC control. FICA, as designed, provides for both the detection of a failed sensor and the generation of the best estimate of the failed signal which is then used by FADEC to provide for continuity of stable engine control. The technical basis for FICA is a modification of Kalman-Bucy filter theory⁹, a technique for optimal estimation. To apply the technique, FICA uses a complex mathematical model which represents the static and dynamic behavior of the engine. This model uses the same inputs and outputs as the real engine. The outputs of FICA are simulated sensor signals which are compared with the actual engine sensors and the resulting error is computed. These errors are weighted by a set of gains which are used to force the mathematical model to track the engine. Under normal operation the magnitudes of these errors are small. However, if a sensor fails, the error for that sensor will exceed a threshold. FICA senses this and reacts by providing an indication of the falled sensor and "switches-out" the failed sensor from the engine control and "switches-in" the mathematical best estimate of the signal. This provides for continuity of control.

FICA proved to be extremely successful in being able to detect and correct for single and many combinations of multiple control sensor failures. In addition, FICA was shown to have additional impact on D&CM by making available, with reasonable accuracy, engine parameters which are not normally measured.

The technical dotails of the design of FICA which formed a major work effort under this contract begin with the section of this report titled Technical Considerations. It will be assumed in that section that the reader is familiar with elementary Kalman filter theory. (For the design of a FICA for turbofan application, the reader is referred to the report by Spang and Corley¹⁰.)

⁹Kalman, R., "A New Approach to Linear Filtering and Prediction Problems", Transactions ASME J. Basic Engineering, Vol. 82, pp 34-35, March 1960.

¹⁰Spang, H. A., and Corley, R. C., "Failure Detection and Correction for Turbofan Engine", General Electric Co., Lynn, MA, TIS Report No. 77 CRD159, June 1977.

The excellent results obtained by FICA are shown in a set of computer plots which are discussed in the section titled Nonlinear Simulation and Results. This section illustrates the capability of FICA to provide for continuity of control in the presence of many combinations of failed sensors and it illustrates, by actual comparisons, the accuracy of the FICA estimates.

TECHNICAL CONSIDERATIONS

FICA is based on the well-known Kalman-Bucy theory with several significant modifications. In its basic form a Kalman filter is a minimum variance unbiased state estimator for a linear system described by the following equations:

$$\begin{aligned} X(t) &= F(t) X(t) + G(t) U(t) + W(t) & W(t) \sim N (O, Q(t)) \\ Y(t) &= H(t) X(t) + V(t) & V(t) \sim N (O, R(t)) \end{aligned}$$
(1)

where X(t) is the state vector

U(t) is the input vector

- W(t) is the process noise vector which is Gaussian distributed with zero mean and covariance Q(t)
- Y(t) is the output vector
- V(t) is the measurement noise vector which is Gaussian distributed with zero mean and covariance R(t).

The best estimate of state X is $\stackrel{\wedge}{X}$, given by

$$\hat{\mathbf{X}} = \mathbf{F}(t) \hat{\mathbf{X}}(t) + \mathbf{K}(t) [\mathbf{Y}(t) - \mathbf{H}(t) \hat{\mathbf{X}}(t)]$$

where K(t) is known as the Kalman gain matrix.

For a more detailed discussion of the basic Kalman filter and its discrete-time counterpart, see Gelb¹¹.

The general solution requires K(t) to be a function of time. However, in the case where the system and measurement dynamics are linear, constant coefficient equations, and the driving noise statistics are stationary, the Kalman gain matrix may reach a constant steady-state value. The Kalman gain matrix is determined by specifying the linear dynamics of the process and the two driving noise

¹¹Gelb et al. APPLIED OPTIMAL ESTIMATION, the MIT Press, 1974.

covariance matrices R and Q. The solution for K is obtained by solving a matrix Riccati equation. For the case where the process dynamics are nonlinear, it is necessary to formulate the extended man filter. The extended Kalman filter algorithms are the same as for the basic Kalman filter with the exception that at each instant of time the process dynamics must be linearized about the current state estimate. This requires a new evoluation of the Kalman gain matrix at each instant of time. This, unfortunately, presents a major computational burden and one which cannot be done on an engine-mounted computer within the current state of the art.

To eliminate this computational complexity in the Kalman filtering algorithm, it is necessary to formulate a major simplification since the turboshaft engine dynamic equations are highly nonlinear. This simplification technique was originally proposed by Spang and Corley in the design of a FICA for a turbofan engine. In their approach the nonlinear model equations are used in the generation of the residuals (errors between the state estimates and the actual state measurements), but the Kalman gain matrix is assumed to be a constant, independent of either time or state estimate. This allows the Kalman gains to be precomputed using a linear model of the engine. The use of a constant Kalman gain matrix produces a suboptimal filter but one which is adequate for the task. Of more importance is the stability of the structure. Safonov and Athans¹² of MIT call this structure a constant gain extended Kalman filter CGEKF. Their results indicate that for many applications, satisfactory performance can be obtained from a CGEKF designed to be optimal for a constant stochastic linear model approximating the actual nonlinear system. They have been able to prove that the CGEKF is intrinsically robust against the effects of approximations introduced in the design of the constant Kalman gain matrix. These results provide the theory of why FICA performs as well as it does. Their results indicate that the emphasis on performance should be placed on a good nonlinear representation of the process.

The structure of FICA consists of two parts: a nonlinear model of the turboshaft engine and update logic utilizing the residuals weighted by the Kalman gain matrix to force the model to "track" the actual engine. The design of both elements will be described in detail later.

¹²Safanov, M.G., and Athana, M., "Robustness and Computational Aspects of Nonlinear and Stochastic Estimators and Regulators," MIT technical report No. ESL-P-741. April 1977.

Further theoretical points which will be discussed are the conditions necessary and sufficient for a solution to exist to the Kalman filtering problem. The question may be asked: Under what conditions can a FICA reconstruct a failed sensor signal? The answer to this question involves the concept of observability⁹. In order for a Kalman filter to exist for the system described by equation (Eq 1), it is necessary that (F,H) be observable; i. ϵ , the well-known observability matrix be full rank. When a sensor fails, a row of the H matrix is reduced to zero. If the system with the reduced matrix H remains observable, then a FICA exists which will reconstruct the failed signal. This places a limitation on the subset of sensors whose failures can be corrected. For the turboshaft application considered here, the requirement for observability necessitates that either NP or Q1 must always be a measured signal and that a single FICA cannot detect failures in both.

For purposes of this study, Q1 will not be reconstructed. However, a FICA structure which will detect a failure of Q1 will be discussed later. In elementary terms, the observability requirement means that there must be redundant information in the remaining (unfailed) sensors which is extra ted by FICA to estimate the failed sensors.

Nonlinear Model of a Turboshaft Engine

An accurate nonlinear model of a turboshaft engine forms a key component of FICA. An obvious trade-off must be made in terms of accuracy and complexity since the model must be run in the on-engine digital computer. The model must represent both the steady-state and transient performance of the engine. The actual functional equations which represent the mass flows, pressures, and temperatures form the basis for the model. The model has the same inputs and outputs as the actual ingine. A station diagram of the engine is shown on Figure 16.

The compressor discharge total pressure is a function of the static pressure

$$\mathbf{P3} = \mathbf{f} (\mathbf{PS3})$$

For the compressor the airflow is of the form

$$W2 = P2/\sqrt{T2} * f (NG/\sqrt{T2}, PS3/P2)$$
 (4

The compressor discharge temperature is given by

$$T3 = T2 * f(NG/\sqrt{T2}, P3/P2)$$
 (5)

(3)



The compressor discharge airflow is given by

$$W3 = C * W2 \tag{6}$$

where C is a constant

The temperature rise in the combustor depends on fuel-air ratio.

$$T4.1 - T3 = f(WF/W3)$$
 (7)

where WF is the fuel flow

The airflow leaving the combustor is of the form

$$W4.1 = C * W3 + WF$$
 (8)

The gas generator turbine inlet pressure is based on a fixed area nozzle

$$P4.1 = C * W4.1 \sqrt{T4.1}$$
(9)

The compressor discharge static pressure is related to the turbine inlet pressure

$$PS3 = C * P4.1$$
 (10)

The turbine discharge airflow is given by

$$W5 = C * W2 + WF$$
 (11)

The static pressure in the exhaust duct inlet is given by

$$PS7 = PO - C * T5 * W5^2 / PO$$
(12)

The power turbine static discharge pressure is given by

$$PS5 = PS7 - C * T5 * W5^2 / PS7$$
(13)

The power turbine discharge total pressure is given by

 $P5 = PS5 + C * T5 * W5^2/PS5$ (14)

The interturbine total pressure and temperature are given by

$$P4.5 = P5 * f(P4.1/P5)$$
(15)

$$T4.5G = C * T4.1$$
 (16)

The power turbine exit temperature is given by

$$T5 = T4.5G * f(P5/P4.5)$$
 (17)

The power extracted by the compressor is a function of airflow and temperature rise

$$PW2 = C * W2 * (T3 - T2)$$
(18)

The gas generator turbine power is given by

$$PW4 = f(T4.1, P4.5/P4.1, W3, WF)$$
 (19)

The power turbine power is given by

$$PW5 = f(T4.5, P5/P4.5, W3, WF)$$
(20)

The power extracted by accessories is given by

$$PXC = P2 \sqrt{T2} * f \left(NG / \sqrt{T2} \right)$$
 (21)

The power turbine torque is a function of power turbine power and speed

$$Q5 = f(PW5, NP)$$
(22)

The above equations express the thermodynamic relationships which exist within the engine. The dynamics of the engine are determined by the rotor accelerations produced by unbalanced torque. The rate of change in the rotor speed is given by

$$\frac{d NG}{dt} = C * (PW4 - PW2 - PXC)/JG * NG$$
(23)

$$\frac{1 \text{ NP}}{\text{dt}} = C * (Q5 - C1)/JP$$
⁽²⁴⁾

where: JG = moment of inertia of gas generator rotor JP = moment of inertia of power turbine rotor Q1 = power turbine shaft torque The only significant sensor dynamics is that of T4.5. Denoting the sensor measurement of T4.5G as T4.5, the dynamics is modeled as

$$\frac{d T4.5}{dt} = C * (T4.5G - T4.5)$$
(25)

Fuel flow is essentially an integration of torque motor current

行為に代信息な影響が見ていた。

$$\frac{dWF}{dt} = O \qquad H \ge T_{IVII} \ge H \qquad (26)$$
$$C * (TMI + H) \qquad TMI < H$$

Since the actual hardware displays significant deadband in the relationship between torque motor current and fuel flow, deadband (H) was added to the model. The effect of the amount of this deadband is discussed later.

The last four equations represent the dynamic behavior of a turboshaft engine. They form the state vector of a fourth-order system. A brief explanation of the method of solution for these equations will now be given.

The resulting system consists of 4 first-order differential equations and 20 simultaneous algebraic equations. In order to solve them, one needs the input values of PO, T2, P2, TMI and Q1. Inputs TMI and Q1 are inputs to the engine and PO, T2, P2 determine the external operating environment and must be known. In its current formulation FICA is unable to reconstruct them. An alternative formulation for reconstruction of Q1 will be discussed later. Knowing these inputs will vield a solution to the system of equations. Unfortunately, the algebraic equations which determine the thermodynamic behavior of the engine are iterative in nature and one must determine a converged solution at each loop update time of the computer. This could pose a computational burden for an on-engine computer. Consequently, an iteration scheme which allowed only one pass through these equations was implemented. The two iteration variables chosen were T5 and PS3. These variables are updated at the beginning of each time step by means of a weighted error matrix from the last iteration using a modified Newton-Raphson approach with constant weights determined from calculating the Jacobian matrix at NG = 95%. This technique produced excellent results with a one-pass iteration over the engine operating range.

The accuracy of the simplified nonlinear model was judged to be adequate by running it in parallel with a complex transient cycle model of the T700 engine which was known to agree with actual engine behavior. Each of the simplified equations was fit to actual cycle data for the range 85% corrected NG to 102% corrected NG. Most of these fits were either linear or quadratic and were accurate to within 2 or 3%.

As was previously mentioned, the nonlinear partial derivative engine simulation does not account for off-design VG migration, customer bleed effects, and antiicing. Consequently these effects were not considered in the FICA model. If sufficient data had been available, the VG actuation system would have been modeled in a similar fashion to the fuel flow actuator. This would produce both an additional state variable and measured output variable VG FB. This would increase the number of elements in the Kalman gain matrix from 20 to 30 to allow FICA to detect and correct for a failure of the VG feedback signal. The FICA designed by Spang and Corley¹⁰ for a turbofan engine satisfactorily included the effects of off-design VG.

State and Output Vectors

The state vector X and the output vector Y are defined to have the following components:

$$\mathbf{X} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{NG} \\ \mathbf{NP} \\ \mathbf{T4.5} \\ \mathbf{WFFB} \end{bmatrix} \qquad \mathbf{Y} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{NG} \\ \mathbf{NP} \\ \mathbf{T4.5} \\ \mathbf{WFFB} \\ \mathbf{PS3} \end{bmatrix} \qquad (27)$$

This establishes the number of elements in the Kalman matrix equal to $4 \ge 520$.

Kalman Gain Matrix

FICA is implemented as a CGEKF which requires a linear system model for evaluation of the Kalman gain matrix. Consequently the nonlinear dynamics were linearized at a nominal NG = 95%. This linearization was accomplished by perturbing each state, one at a time, while keeping the other states and inputs fixed. The matrices F. H in (Eq 1) are computed as follows:

$$[Fij] = \frac{\Delta X_i}{\Delta X_j} | (\Delta X_i = 0 \quad i \neq j) \quad j = 1, 2, \ldots N$$
 (28)

$$[\text{Hij}] = \frac{\Delta Yi}{\Delta Xj} \mid (\Delta Xi = 0 \quad i \neq j) \qquad j = 1, 2, \ldots N$$
 (29)

where

[Fij] and [Hij] are the elements in the i'th row and j'th column of the respective matrices.

The linearized matrices are given by

F =	-3.14 9.98 -8.77 0	0 -1.74 0 0	0 0 5 0	.071 .261 .787 0	H	=		0 1 0 0	0 0 1 0	0 0 0 1	(30)
							6.02	0	0	.0774	

In order to calculate the Kalman gain matrix, it is necessary to specify the driving noise covariance matrices. The Q matrix (process driving noise matrix) is a measure of modeling errors; i.e., it reflects how well the simplified model matches the actual engine. For this study Q was assumed to be diagonal. From an analysis of transients run on both the full nonlinear simulation and the simplified nonlinear model, it appeared that bias errors were dominant and that a standard covariance calculation might be misleading. Therefore, it was decided to select the diagonal elements of Q such that the standard deviation of each state was 1% of its maximum value. This is consistent with model accuracy.

The R matrix (measurement noise driving matrix) is a measure of sensor accuracy. In a similar fashion its diagonal elements were selected as a percentage of full-scale readings. The resulting R matrix was multiplied by a scalar \underline{z} whose value alters the determinant of R. As \underline{z} is reduced to zero the Kalman filter weights the residuals more heavily. Therefore, one can control the Kalman gains and the corresponding closed loop eigenvalues by a variation of \underline{z} . Four iterations were required to produce a set of Kalman gains which yielded a stable set of closed loop eigenvalues under any one sensor failure. This was assessed by checking the closed loop eigenvalues of the filter, setting each row, in turn, of H to zero.

The filter eigenvalues are displayed below:

Closed Loop <u>No Failures</u>	NG Failure	NP Failure	T4.5 Failure	WFFB <u>Failure</u>	PS3 Failure
-63.5 -20.2.±j 0.28 -20.1	-57.6 -20.1 ±j 0.17 -20.2	-63.6 -20.0 ±j 0.11 -1.74	-63.5 -20.2 ±j 0.27 - 0.5	-63.5 -20.4 -20.0 - 0.12	-20.0 ±j 0.12 -19.7 - 9.7

Failure Detection Logic

In order to detect sensor failures, it was necessary to implement a threshold logic system such that when the error between the actual and estimated signals exceeds this threshold the sensor will be assumed to have failed. This threshold logic makes use of the estimated covariance of the error obtained from solution of the Riccati equation. This covariance is given by

$$Ry = R + H Pn H^{t}$$
(31)

where Pn is the expected covariance matrix of the error in the state estimate.

The detector for the failure is given by 13

$$\begin{vmatrix} y_{i} - \hat{y}_{i} \\ y_{i} - \hat{y}_{i} \end{vmatrix} \leq K_{i} \sqrt{Ry_{i}} No \text{ failure}$$

$$\begin{vmatrix} y_{i} - \hat{y}_{i} \\ y_{i} \end{vmatrix} > K_{i} \sqrt{Ry_{i}} \text{ Failure}$$
(32)

where Ki is the threshold constant. Since the sensor errors displayed a steadystate bias, the threshold constant was chosen to insure that the normal biases would not produce an erroneous failure. The resulting thresholds for each sensor are listed below. These values proved quite satisfactory in all transient cases studied.

NG	3%
NP	3%
T4, 5	120F
WFFB	9 PPH
PS3	5 PSIA

The actual flowchart of the detection logic will be discussed later. The detection system does not "lock up" on a sensor failure. That is, should the error at some later time come within the bounds, FICA will switch to the actual sensor measurement.

¹³Anderson, T.W., An Introduction to MULTIVARIABLE STATISTICAL ANALYSIS, J. Wiley and Sons, N.Y., 1958.

SUMMARY OF FICA OPERATION

¢

Figure 17 is a flowchart of the operation of FICA as it was implemented in the computer simulation program. The dynamic equations were discretized using well-known techniques¹⁴ to be compatible with a computer update time of 0.005 sec. It is necessary to delay the arming of the sensor replacement feature until initial transients die out when the FICA model is initialized. This was effected by delaying the "arming" of FICA for 0.5 sec. In the actual engine it would be more appropriate to wait until a predetermining NG level is reached before arming for that operational period.

With reference to Figure 17 the operation of FICA can be explained as follows: At each time step the state equations are integrated one step ahead in time. The two iteration variables (T5, PS3) are predicted ahead to the new time step. The cycle equations are computed (one pass only). The outputs of this last step are the best sensor estimates. These estimates are compared with the actual sensor signals and errors are generated for each sensor. Each error is compared with a threshold. If the error is within bounds, the actual sensor measurement is fed into the control. If the error is outside of bounds, the following events happen. First, FICA declares that the sensor has failed. Second, the failed sensor signal is replaced by the sensor estimate. Third, the failed sensor error only is set to zero to prevent a failed sensor from modifying the state equations. Only good sonsors are used in the Kalman filter tracking logic. The estimate of the sensor is used in the control. All errors are weighted by multiplying them by the Kalman gain matrix. The state derivatives are then calculated. These are modified by the weighted errors to force the model to track the engine. Time is then advanced and the entire process is repeated. As implemented, the detection logic doos not lock out a sensor once it has failed. If the error at some later time comes within bounds. FICA will no longer declare the sensor failed and will use the actual sensor in the control and filter update logic.

いたので、「「「「「「「」」」」

Intermediate Parameter Tracking

In its standard form the Kalman filter is a state estimator; i.e., it forces its output of the model to track the output of the engine, adding correction terms to the state derivatives. However, it was decided for D&CM purposes to exploit the fact that FICA had a cycle model, and in the process of calculating the necessary outputs it has had to calculate many intermediate quantities, such as pressures and temperatures which are not normally measured. The standard Kalman

¹⁴Fossard, A., MULTIVARIABLE SYSTEM CONTROL, North-Holland, 1977.



April - Company Star - Star



filter logic does not specifically address itself to the accuracy of these intermediate parameters. A method was developed to use the Kalman gains to correct specific intermediate parameters. The most significant improvement is in the accuracy of T4.1. The method is based on calculating an accurate T4.5G.

The dynamic equation for T4.5 is given by

$$\frac{d T4.5}{dt} = \frac{1}{TC} (T4.5G - T4.5)$$
(33)

The best estimate of T4.5 is given by

$$\frac{d \cdot T4.5}{dt} = \frac{1}{TC} (T4.5G - T4.5) + K (y - \hat{y})$$
(34)

which is the standard Kalman filter equation.

Rearranging (Eq 34) yields

$$\frac{d \hat{T}4.5}{dt} = \frac{1}{TC} \left(\left\{ T4.5G + TC^*K(y - \hat{y}) \right\} - \hat{T}4.5 \right)$$
(35)

The best estimate for T4.5 is identified as

$$\hat{T4}.5G = T4.5 + TC * K (y - \hat{y})$$
 (36)

which is the best estimate of the actual interturbine gas temperature (not subject to thermocouple lags). Given T4.5G, T4.1 can be calculated as follows:

$$\hat{14}, 1 = f(\hat{14}, 5G, NG, dNG/dt)$$
 (37)

where the dependence on d NG/dt is needed to account for transient heat sink. These corrections were applied to all simulations shown in the next section.

NONLINEAR SIMULATION AND RESULTS

To assess its stability and capabilities, FICA was programmed into two accurate nonlinear transient simulations of the 1700 engine. The characteristics of these simulation programs were discussed previously.

The following results were obtained using the original nonlinear partial derivative simulation. A list of computer runs is shown in Table 15. The reader is referred to the glossary as an aid to interpreting the computer plots. All variables which are calculated by FICA start with the letter Y. For each parameter plotted, both the actual value and the value calculated by FICA are shown. All scales have been adjusted so that two large divisions are equivalent to about 10%. Variable YSFAIL is the base 10 equivalent of a binary indication of failed sensors.

$$YSFAIL = \begin{cases} PS3 \\ failed \end{cases} = 1, \quad \begin{cases} WFFB \\ failed \end{cases} = 1, \quad \begin{cases} T4.5 \\ failed \end{cases} = 1, \quad \begin{cases} NP \\ failed \end{cases} = 1, \quad \begin{cases} NG \\ failed \end{cases} = 1 \end{cases}$$
(Eq 38)

For example, if both the T4.5 and NG sensors are failed, YSFAIL in binary would be (00101), which is equal to 5 in decimal representation.

Computer run 100.00 (Figures 18, 19 and 20) is an open loop comparison in which the Kalman gains were set to zero and the FICA detection logic was disabled. Also, it was necessary to set both the actuator and model deadbands equal to zero to prevent an ever-increasing offset in fuel flow. The transient is a 5-second load burst with a change in collective pitch from 0 to 68 degrees. This produces a change in NG of approximately 85% to 95%. As seen in the plots, large errors exist between the actual sensor signals and the open loop FICA estimates. The exception is in fuel flow, which has no offset since the same signal drives both the engine and FICA. The most significant error is in NP, which is caused by the difficulty in calculating power turbine power. Additional effort in modeling the power turbine did not improve this problem.

Computer run 100.01 (Figures 21, 22, 23) shows the same transient with the closed loop FICA system enabled. Comparing these plots to 100.00 shows that the errors between the actual sensors and the FICA estimates have been greatly reduced. Notice particularly how well YT45 tracks T45E1 and YTEMP tracks TEMP. This was produced by using the Kalman gains to correct intermediate cycle variables, which was discussed previously. Also notice that it takes approximately 0.2 sec for FICA to initialize. In these computer runs the failure detection and replacement feature of FICA is disabled during this period. The FICA estimate of shaft torque YQ5 has an offset with actual shaft torque. This is produced by the previously mentioned inaccuracy of calculation of power turbine power. FICA produces this offset so that YPNP1 will track actual PCNP1. All subsequent computer runs are with the FICA system enabled.

Computer run 100.02 (Figures 24, 25, 26) shows the response to a more severe transient. The transient involves the same change in collective pitch from 0 to 68 deg but in 2 sec as opposed to 5 sec. While both transients are normal in T700 operation, the faster transient is more difficult for the FICA model to track. Even with this more severe transient, all estimated variables track their actual counterparts exceptionally well. One additional comment concerning the behavior

	TABLE 15. COMPUTER RUN I	INDEX	
Run No.	Transient	Sensors Failed	Figure No.
100.00	5 sec., NG 85% 95%; Standard Engine	Open Loop	18, 19, 20
.01		None	21, 22, 23
. 02	2 sec., NG 85% 95%; Standard Engine	None	24,25,26
. 03		NG	27
.04		NP	28
. 05		T4.5	29, 30
.06		WFFB	31
.07		PS3	32
. 08		NG, PS 3	33
.09		NG, WFFB & P53	34
200,00	NG 85% - 95%; Soa Lovel; Ram Pressure Ratio = 1,2	None	35, 36, 37
.01	NG 83% – 95%; 20, 000 Ft. ; Ram Pres- suro Ratio = 1. 2	Nono	55, 39 , 40
, 02		NP	41

ġ.

いいです。 おう、おいが、のたけを読みを読みをするためにない、 たちまたにないたいかいたち

ŝ

ž

of the control is in order. During the load change, LDS is connected to the load input. This means that LDS is also moved 0 to 68 dog in 2 see. As the control system is designed, LDS produces an increase in WF in order to anticipate the lead change. For this transient the amount of anticipation is greater than that required, and this produces a transient <u>increase</u> in PCNP1.

dere erste verste verste som store och en statige upperstation verstationen beter en andere andere andere vers

とうちょう くうかんざい

運動の意味の

Computer run 100.03 (Figure 27) shows the response with the NG sensor failed at 2.0 sec. In accord with the FICA logic, after 2 sec, YPNG1 is used by the control instead of PCNG1. The transient is almost identical to the no-failed sensor transient.

Computer run 100.04 (Figure 28) shows the response with the NP sensor failed at 2.0 sec. This response is less stable than the previous case but is still satisfactory. However, there is a 5% offset between YPNP1 and PCNP1. This offset is caused by the difficulty in calculating the shaft torque in the simplified model. Since the NP sensor has failed, the Kalman gain on that state has been set to zero and cannot help in reducing the error. However, since the other Kalman gains are nonzero, the magnitude of the offset is less than in the open loop case (run 100.00). In order to provide adequate overspeed protection, there are currently redundant NP sensors. For this transient, a switchover to the redundant sensor is possible, as will be discussed later.

Computer run 100.05 (Figure 29, 30) shows the effect of a failure of the T4.5 sensor at 2.0 sec. This transient is almost identical to the no-failure case. After the sensor fails, FICA sets T45EL1 equal to YT458. The only consequence of the sensor failure for this case is the discrepancy between T45E1 and YT45^S and between TEMP and YTEMP. With the sensor failed it is not possible to improve the estimate of these intermediate parameters.

Computer runs 100, 06 (Figure 31) and 100, 07 (Figure 32) show the effects of a failure of the WFFB sensor and the PS3 sensor respectively. In both cases, the transients are perfectly satisfactory. One conclusion is that the engine will run stably with FICA for any single sensor failure.

Several combinations of double sensor failures were examined, of which computer run 100,08 (Figure 33) is typical. In this run, both NG and PS3 sensors are failed at 2.0 sec, producing minimal effect on transient response. All possible combinations of two sensor failures have not been examined. However, one combination was unstable. This combination consisted of a failure of both the NP sensor and the WFFB sensor at 2.0 sec. Since a single failure of either the WFFB sensor or the NP sensor is stable, a switchover to a redundant NP sensor would solve this dual failure problem.

It is to be noted in the above cases that when a sensor fails it is common that an offset will develop between the FICA estimated value and the actual engine value. While this offset does not affect the stability of NP governing, its presence may dictate modification to the control upon indication of a failure. When the PS3 sensor fails, the offset in the PS3 signal can create a problem with the acceleration and deceleration schedules being wrong by the amount of the offset. A similar problem occurs when the WFFB sensor fails. The control system is aware of the failure mode, but the degree and direction of the offset are not known.

If system studies indicate a stall problem because of the offset, the control could reduce the acceleration schedule when it was notified of a PS3 or WFFB failure.

Computer run 100.09 (Figure 34) shows the system response to a failure of three sensors (NG, WFFB, PS3), all occurring at 2.0 sec. While there are more oscillations than in the no-failure case, the transient is perfectly satisfactory, demonstrating the capability of FICA in a multiple failure environment.

One area of concern initially was the problem of actuator nonlinearities. In the current control this is modeled as a significant amount of deadband in the torque motor (see Figure 14). As mentioned previously, a different amount of deadband was added to the dynamic equation for WFFB. All previous cases had a deadband of 8 MV in the torque motor and a deadband of 10 MV in the FICA model. The amounts of deadband are not significant in the no-failure cases. However, several cases were studied, all of which had a failed WFFB sensor, to examine the effect of deadband on fuel flow offsets. The best transient response was observed when both deadbands were equal. When the FICA model deadband was increased to 12 MV the fuel flow oscillations increased slightly in magnitude but were still acceptable. When the FICA model deadband was reduced to 6 MV, the offset between YZW1 and WFM1 became significantly worse. Therefore, it is concluded that the FICA model deadband must be greater than that of the actual actuator.

All previous runs were made with the nonlinear partial-derivative simulation. About halfway through this study a more complex transient digital model became available. This simulation uses a complete cycle calculation to represent the engine. Even though not scheduled in the contract, the FADEC system was added to the new simulation. This new simulation provided the capability to study performance at other flight conditions and was used to assess the need to measure PO (ambient prossure). All 200 series computer runs were made with this new simulation.

Computer run 200.00 (Figures 35, 36, 37) shows the response to the 2 sec base transient initialized at the same power level for sea level altitude with a ram pressure ratio of 1.2. Computer run 200.01 (Figures 38, 39, 40) shows (a) response for the same transient at an altitude of 20,000 ft and a ram pressure ratio of 1.2. In both cases excellent tracking is observed, demonstrating that FICA will track well throughout the flight envelope. Computer run 200.02 (Figure 41) shows the failure of the NP sensor at altitude for the same transient 200.01. For this transient, NG reaches the topping limit. This transient demonstrates satisfactory FICA performance at altitude.

An analysis was made using this second simulation to assess the necessity of measuring both P0 and P2. It was found that if either was eliminated by using P2 for P0 and vice versa, tracking errors significantly increased. In the failure of the NP sensor, offsets became unsatisfactorily large, which resulted in unacceptable transient response. Consequently, it was concluded that both P0 and P2 must be measured. Two transients were run failing the NG sensor with P0 set equal to P2. These cases were acceptable, so with only a limited amount of data it may be possible to eliminate the need to measure P0 if it is not required to reconstruct a failed NP sensor. However, a significant amount of additional analysis over the entire flight envelope would be needed to justify this conclusion.

AREAS OF ADDITIONAL STUDY

As seen in the previous section, FICA as designed works extremely well. However, it was felt necessary to further address certain areas which arose in the study and to comment on possible improvements.

The first area of concern is the inability of FICA as designed to reconstruct the shaft torque sensor Q1. This was referred to previously as being an observability problem and therefore it is theoretically impossible to reconstruct <u>simultan-</u> <u>eously</u> both NP and Q1. However, if one of these is measured, the other one can be reconstructed. For the purpose of this study it was assumed that Q1 would be the known input and FICA was designed to reconstruct NP and therefore detect NP failures. FICA could have been designed to use NP as an input and reconstruct Q1. One obvious possible solution is to duplicate the power turbine equations in FICA producing in essence a dual FICA system, one of which is capable of reconstructing NP and the other capable of reconstructing Q1. This dual system would be capable of reconstructing either an NP or Q1 failure but not a dual failure of both.

A second area of concern is the magnitude of the offset between YPNP1 and PCNP1 when the NP sensor fails. The following scheme makes use of the fact that there are dual NP sensors on each engine. The first NP sensor will be denoted NPS. The second NP sensor is part of the torque measuring system and will be denoted NPQ. This second sensor will fail when the torque sensor fails. The logic is as follows. It will be assumed that Q1 will be an input to FICA as in the current design. TICA will therefore calculate a best estimate of NP which will be denoted NPC. The logic is to compare all three NP signals. If they all agree within the designed threshold, assume that no failure has occurred and continue to use NPS in the control. If NPS fails, FICA will detect the failure and NPC will be a good estimate which is then compared to NPQ. If the error between NPQ and NPC is within bounds, NPQ will be switched into the control which will eliminate the NP offset. If the torque sensor fails, FICA will incorrectly declare NPS to have failed. NPC will be greatly different from both NPS and NPQ. Therefore, excluding dual failures, it can be concluded that the QI sensor failed and NPS can be used for control.

A third area requiring further investigation is the behavior of FICA when the engine enters a region where the compressor stalls. In this stall region, the cycle equations which make up the FICA model are no longer valid, which provides the potential for FICA making an incorrect decision on sensor failures. It may be necessary to disable FICA upon stall detection or modify its equations to represent behavior in stall.

The fourth area is that of a control system malfunction caused by a FICA system failure itself. A digital system which is structured for maximum reliability by the inclusion of computer self-tests and/or the most appropriate utilization of component redundancy will minimize the probability that a FICA failure will go undetected. For a twin-engine installation, an additional check of whether or not a sensor is functioning could be to compare each sensor to its counterpart on the second engine. Since the engines are normally run in a load sharing mode, parameters on both engines are relatively close in magnitude.

An associated problem is that of control failure caused by an actuator failure. In its present form, FICA is not capable of detecting actuator failures. An alternative approach to this problem is indicated, since one would like not only the notification of an actuator failure but would demand no loss of power modulation ability. A satisfactory solution may require either the use of hardware redundancy or the structuring of the control system architecture to provide a control which is stable but may provide for less performance capabilities in the presence of one or more actuator failures. With current FADEC technology, computer and actuator interface failures are handled by having a hydromechanical backup system. It is possible that this backup can be eliminated by utilizing a digital architecture for FADEC which is both intrinsically reliable and is structured to provide for continued control.



Figure 18. Run 100.00 - FICA Open Loop (Sheet 1 of 3).







Figure 20. Run 100.00 - FICA Open Loop (Sheet 3 of 3).









S SEC. BURST - NO SENSOR FAILURE

1700

0010

Figure 23. Run 108.01 - 5-Second Burst - No Sensor Fullures (Sheet 3 of 3).



Figure 24. Rum 100.02 - 2-Second Burst - No Sensor Fallures (Sheet 1 of 3).



Figure 25. Run 100.02 - 2-Second Burst - No Sensor Failures (Sheet 2 of 3).






Figure 27. Run 100.03 - 2-Second Burst - NG Sensor Failure















「日本語やわしく読んない」







Figure 34. Run 109.09 - 2-Second Burst - NG, ZWF and PS3 Sensor Failures.





..... 1000



69.046

00.00

00-01

00.010

00,00

٥٠٥٥

Figure 36. Run 200.00 - 2-Second Burst - SL RPR = 1.2 - No Failures (Sheet 2 of 3).











Figure 39. Run 209.01 - 2-Second Burst - 20.000 Feet RPR = 1.2 - No Failures (Sheet 2 of 3).

Run 200.01 - 2-Second Burst - 20,000 Feet RPR = 1.2 - No Failures (Sheet 3 of 3). Figure 40.



N CASANA

122

÷.,





CONCLUSIONS OF TASK V

A failure detection and correction strategy based on a constant gain extended Kalman filter has been designed for an advanced turboshaft engine. By extensive simulation it has been shown that stable engine control can be maintained even in the presence of multiple sensor failures. When a sensor fails, an offset occurs between the estimated value for that sensor and the actual engine parameter. Based on flight conditions studied, NP errors of up to 5% can occur. The effect of these errors can be eliminated by using the NP signal from the overspeed syztem when an NP sensor failure is detected by FICA. Offset of NG, PS3, or WF due to their respective sensor failures would mean between a 3% power loss and a 2% NG overspeed when operating on topping. A failure of the T4.5 sensor produced an offset of about 90°F. This is only significant at the T4.5 limiting level and, therefore, the offset can be reduced by model refinement. With a variation of T4.5 offset from engine to engine of 0° to 90° F, all or part of the offset can be traded for a 0 to 10% power reduction while on T4.5 limiting. This is accomplished by shifting T4.5 reference when FICA recognizes a T4.5 sensor failure.

Additionally, FICA has been shown to provide excellent estimates of intermediate parameters such as T4.5G and T4.1 which have significant impact on D&CM, since these parameters are related to hot part life. The determination of these parameters to a higher accuracy represents a significant diagnostic state-of-the art advancement.

RECOMMENDATIONS OF TASK V

The following are specific areas where additional analysis could provide either simplification of the hardware implementation of FICA or an expansion of its capabilities.

One area invol. ing simplification is the elimination of the need to measure PO if a reconstruction of NP by FICA is not required. This would make use of the fact that there are already redundant NP sensors. Another area is that of making optimum use of a twin-engine installation. Since the engines normally run in a load sharing mode, the corresponding sensors on both engines are relatively close in magnitude. An additional check of sensor malfunction would be to compare it to the second sensor on the other engine. FICA could in effect be a triply redundant system by comparing its best estimate to sensors from both engines.

One area which could hold promise for assessment of engine health is trend analysis of the Kalman filter residuals. From the covariance of these residuals can be extracted the covariance matrix of the driving noise, which is a measure of how well the engine matches the model. Changes in the elements of this matrix may provide useful information on engine performance degradation. To adequately assess this potential, further analysis beyond the scope of this contract is required.

TASK VI – FADEC DIAGNOSTIC SYSTEM DESIGN INTERFACE

Because of the powerful computational capability included in a FADEC control, D&CM systems of considerable functional complexity can be integrated efficiently with a FADEC control. In some of the more complex systems, supplementary airframe-mounted and ground equipment may be required to complete the overall system.

The FADEC system concept for the T700 engine, which incorporates built-in FICA capabilities, is the foundation or baseline upon which this study is formed. This conceptual baseline FADEC is described in Task IV (Table 13 and Figure 13) and its FICA capabilities described and analyzed in Task V (page 80). A graphical representation of a building block (B/B) approach to D& CM integration with FADEC is shown in Table 16. For convenience, this B/B concept is related to the D& CM functions listed on Table 3. There are, however, many other possible approaches to the integration and implementation of FADEC/D& CM, particularly with regard to D& CM display and data recording and memory provisions.

IDENTIFICATION OF D& CM OBJECTIVES AND THEIR IMPACT ON FADEC

Engine History: This FADEC concept provides all the signals required for measuring life-used in terms of two LCF counts, engine hours, pressure cycles, and stress rupture life-used. (See Task III.) It is estimated that to accomplish the LCF counts now done by T700 will require about 80 words and an increase in cycle time of about 90 microseconds. The current T700 engine hours and time-temperature counts are also very simple. Therefore, it is estimated that to accomplish all T700 engine history functions would require about 4% of the FADEC memory. For this reason, this is included in the basic FADEC concept shown as B/B system #1 on Table 16.

With all the measured and calculated parameters available, including T_3 and $T_{4,1}$ (key elements for calculating turbine blade temperature), more accurate hot part stress rupture life calculation can be made than is possible without FADEC. The availability of digital computer capability also makes possible more sophisticated Low Cycle Fatigue computations using the Rainfall or Pagoda method (Ref. 6, 7, 8) or similar techniques that account for both major and minor stress-strain cycles. The impact on FADEC cannot be accurately estimated until these are defined. However, it is assumed that it would be in the area of doubling the above calculations. The ancumulation of total life counts is assumed to be done mechanically in the Engine History Recordor (EHR) as on the present T700 engine.

TABLE 16. ARMY FADEC-D&CM BUILDING BLOCK SYSTEM CONCEPT

a the set of the set o

4.0

			CEL MICH. SAFETY CEL MICH. SAFETY CEL MICH. SAFETY CEL MICH. CEL MICH. SAFETY CEL MICH. SAF	2.2.15 THAT USED EQUIPMENT AND HEM 2.2.15 THAT USED IN THE SYSTEM WHER GUIPMENT	DRY IS IDENTICAL TO E IT IS FIRST ADDED. REMARKS
1. FACCFICA	4313 25 25	20 2 64	50°*	UNDEFIXED CONTRALS TEST UNIT	BASIC FADEC/FICA WITH SIMPLE FICA ADVISORY AND GURNENT 1700 HISTORY FURCTIONS.
2. FLOCOFFICS STER DREET AND FLACT BETECTION.	wit:	[u: 3: 40]	FICK MEALTRE FICK MEALTRE WITH FALLT WITH FALLT WITH FALLT WITH FALLT WITH FALLT WITH FALLT WITH FALLTRE WITH FALLTRE		FADEC COMPUTER INCLUDING HIT CHECK & DACH SIGNALS EXCEPT VIBS & SOME FAULT DETECTION. DIGITAL HEALTH DISPLAY ADDED TO COCKPIT, DACH, UNIT FOR FAULT DETECTION MONITOR- ING AND VIBORATION PROCESSING.
 FLACATICA NTH DEFINITION AND FL EXCARDON. 	14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 1			BASE COMPUTER	ADDED TAPE RECORDER AND GROUND STATION COMPUTER WITH FAULT ISOLATION LOGIC, DATA STORAGE AND PRINT-OUT FACILITIES.
4. MAKUTIKA NITH ERRHTHYANT AND R. 1987 LINE, KUND	VII3 Fi		FICE FILLTH 0 0 0 00 0 0 0 00 0 0 0 00 0 0 1 5162455 0 1 5 162455	FLIGHT LIKE BASE DIAGHOSTIC COMPUTER UNUT	0 & CM UNIT MODIFIED TO INTERFACE WITH FLIGHT LINE DIASHOSTIC "SUITCASE" UNIT.

127

<u>Performance</u>: All required signals for even the most complex engine health system described in Task III, Section I (System A) are available within the FADEC concept. Increasing the computer memory by about sixty-five 16-bit words and increasing computer cycle time by about 74 microseconds, the HIT check can be added to the FADEC system. As discussed in Task IV, the cycle time can be reduced by spreading the calculations over several cycles because the performance calculation update time requirement is much less than the control cycle update time.

This capability is recommended for inclusion in the basic FADEC as shown in baseline system #2. Modular fault isolation by performance measurement, if proven feasible, would also use signals available in FADEC supplemented as a minimum by compressor discharge temperature, TS3, assuming FICA calculated TS3 is not accurate enough for modular fault isolation. Until a modular fault isolation system is designed the decision as to whether this system is ground support equipment or an integral part of FADEC cannot be determined.

<u>Control Fault Detection</u>: The FADEC functional design detects and accommodates control sensor failures, and provides self-test functions. In order to make the overall FADEC system reliable, additional faults must be detected and accommodated. Whether all control system faults will be accomplished within FADEC or if some additional logic is required will not be known until additional design work is accomplished. In accordance with Table 14, processing of the fuel filter bypass and fuel boost pump pressure will be required. These will be processed with small impact on the FADEC system.

<u>Oil-Wetted Parts Fault Detection</u>: Oil system monitoring requires six additional signals in accordance with Table 14. Processing of these signals is estimated to increase the FADEC parts count by about 10% and should therefore be included in the FADEC design. Logic to detect exceedances would be small and, therefore, should also be included in the base design, as shown in baseline system #2.

Fault Isolation:

<u>Controls</u>: Twenty-one eignals are planned to be available within FADEC for control system fault isolation. The FICA analysis documented under Task V concluded that the following control system sensor failures could be detected and fault isolated: PS3, T4.5, WFFB, VGFB, Q1, NP and NG. In addition, the 21 signals can be utilized for fault isolation of the other control system LRU's as described in Task III. Based on other studies of analog systems, fault isolation of the entire engine system can require a computer similar in size to the corrent FADEC. Since this system is not required on a continuous basis and consistent with the concept in Table 16, fault isolation is considered part of ground equipment. The accuracy or effectiveness with which faults can be isolated should be very high for the T700 FADEC/D&CM systems B/B #3 and #4 described herein. In the case of a non-FADEC T700 control, the fault isolation accuracy or effectiveness would probably be lower. In either case, an analysis following the general outline in Task III would be required. The fault isolation logic is currently planned to be in the ground support equipment, not on the airframe-mounted equipment. In System 3, it would be in the base computer. In System 4, it would be in the flight line diagnostic unit.

<u>Modules:</u> Fault isolation to the module level involves the following types of monitored parameters and logic:

- 1. <u>Performance</u>: Monitoring to isolate degradation to the compressor high-pressure or low-pressure turbine is discussed under performance (above) and in Task I.
- 2. <u>Vibration</u>: Monitoring to isclate an out-of-linkts unbalance problem requires two accelerometers: one on the accessory gearbox and one on the exhaust frame.

With proper filtering and logic, fault isolation to the module and/or LRU level should be effective. Accelerometer signal conditioning is not a function requiring components or wiring common to other D& CM/ FADEC except for AD signal conversion. The signals are very susceptible to distortion or noise from external sources. It is recommended that FADEC not include vibration signal conditioning and analysis.

- 3. <u>Oil-Wetted Parts:</u> Failures or incipient failures involving the lube/ scavenge pump and filter can be fault isolated with signals recommended for inclusion in FADEC. Isolating bearing failures to the sump involved, however, can best be done on the ground by visual inspection of the scavenge screens at the scavenge pump inlets. The alternative, installation of chip detectors in each of the six scavenge lines, would not be cost effective. The combination of a Master Chip Detector signal and a high vibration reading (not processed in FADEC) would be a positive fault isolation indication. However, an externally mounted accelerometer would be sensitive only to severe bearing problems which, in almost every case, would have previously caused a chip detector alarm and resulted in an engine power reduction. The effectiveness of this fault detection technique is questionable, at best.
- 4. <u>Modular Life Usage</u>: Measuring LCF and hot parts life used on key compressor. HP and LP turbine module components.

IDENTIFICATION OF CANDIDATE PARAMETERS AS RELATED TO FADEC

Parameters to be Sensed: Table 14, "Candidate FADEC and D&CM Signals", lists 33 signals identified in this study for probable inclusion in a T700 FADEC/D&CM system to meet the system objectives defined by contract.

Used by FADEC/FICA	21
Used only for D&CM	_1.2_
Total	33
Signals to be processed in FADEC	31
Signals to be processed elsewhere	2
Total	33

Further systems analyses in the following areas may result in changes to the list of required parameters:

Modular Performance Fault Isolation Control LRU Fault Isolation Further FICA System Analysis per Task V, page 125

Parameter Characteristics

In general, the accuracy requirements for engine control systems sensors are more stringent than for D&CM sensors. Since two thirds of the T700 FADEC/ D&CM system sensors are required for control as well as D&CM, it can be stated generally that D&CM does not require unique sensor accuracy. One potential exception to this may be in the area of Modular Performance Fault Isolation. Detecting small performance changes in a compressor or HP turbine may impose difficult accuracy and stabilization time requirements on sensors. Table 14 contains the signal accuracy requirements as presently known. It is believed that all are within current state of the art, again with the possible exception noted above.

Pressure transducers and thermocouple response rates are governed by dynamic control analysis. Current T700 sensor response rates are adequate unless control system design logic is changed. D&CM functions are not response rate critical except for accelerometers where the response rate will be governed by the frequency range of 50 - 5000HZ.

INTEGRATION WITH FADEC - BUILDING BLOCK APPROACH

The impact of integrating D&CM objectives with FADEC is minimal and is discussed in the description of the four D&CM System concepts. The impact is also depicted graphically in the Building Block Chart (Table 16). In brief, once a turboshaft engine D&CM building block concept is adopted, the small additional allowance for D&CM functions can be easily designed into the FADEC unit so that it becomes a generic control for all applications of that engine.

Table 16 is a graphical representation of the manner in which a basic GE FADEC (urboshaft engine control could be integrated within more complex D&CM systems. System 1 (Figure 42) includes current T700 type history recorder function plus inherent fault detection in FICA. System 2 (Figure 43) adds to System 1 those items which are recommended for inclusion in FADEC in this study:

- HIT check
- All D&CM signal processing
- Additional control system fault detection and annunciation
- Other fault detection and annunciation as practical. A LCC study is required to define what D&CM functions should be included in the FADEC. However, based on current T700 usage and experience it is expected that a minimum of the following functions would be included in a FADEC:
 - **Overtemperature**
 - Overspeed
 - Chip Detector
 - Oil and Fuel Filter Bypass
 - Oil Pressure and Temperature Exceedance

Systems 3 (Figure 44) and 4 (Figure 45) indicate potential support equipment which LCC studies might indicate are cost effective. The dash-line blocks indicate equipment identical to that used in the precoding and simpler D&CM system.

The D& CM Systems concepts are arranged in order of increasing cost, complexity, and capability. They represent the basic types of D&CM systems currently being developed in this country. For example, System 1 is similar to D&CM System on T700 and F100 engines; System 2 is similar to the A-7E/TF41 1ECMS and B-1/F101 CITS except that it lacks the in-flight recording and ground printout and analysis functions. System 3 is similar to A7-E, TF39 (ADEMS) and F101 (CITS).

System 4 is similar to the Northrop EHMS for T38 and A-10 aircraft. If the basic FADEC units are built with provisions to handle the future additions of the added D&CM functions, the necessity for choosing a given concept for a particular application does not become critical in the FADEC development process.



Figure 42. System 1 - FADEC With Engine History Recorder (EHR).

System 1 is the basic system incorporating the FADEC and FICA function and the electronics to process and compute the Engine History Recorder functions which are displayed and recorded mechanically on the engine-mounted EHR unit. A cockpit light advises pliot of a sensor failure detected by FICA and identifies 'he engine involved.





This system is the baseline for future designs. In addition to those items in System 1 it includes those items from the following list which a future LCC study determines cost effective: HIT check, all D&CM signals, and fault detection. An additional D&CM unit, probably airframe-mounted, processes vibrations as required and displays coded maintenance messages that identify a malfunction or limit exceedance. The system does not produce a permanent record of engine events, nor does it have extensive fault isolation capability. The extent of its practical fault isolation ability will not be known until a more detailed enginsoring study can be made. System 3 - "Full House" System With Fault Isolation (FI) - FADEC, FICA, EHR, HIT, FD, and Base Shop Diagnosis

System 2, with the addition of in-flight tape recording and a computerized ground station, would become System 3. This system requires an airframe-mounted tape recorder unit to record in-flight events and provide a communications link with the ground station. It would meet all requirements of Contract DAAJ02-79-C-0065 for performance and mechanical monitoring and fault isolation. Fault isolation logic functions would be performed on the base computer.





System 4 - "Full House" System With Flight Line Readout - FADEC, FICA, EHR. HIT, FD, FI, and Base Shop Printout



•

Figure 45. System 4 - "Full House" System With Flight Line Readout - FADEC, FICA, EHR, HIT, FD, FI, and Base Shop Printout.

System 4 meets all of the intended requirements for performance and mechanical monitoring and diagnosis. This system requires a modified airframe-mounted D& CM unit with solid state data storage; a ground diagnostic "suitease" unit that will interface with the airframe-mounted unit and perform LRU fault diagnosis and real time data readout; and a base computer with readout, printout, computation, and tape storage capability.

TASK VII - SENSOR DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS

GE's FADEC hardware programs have progressed sufficiently to show that there are feasible sensors currently available for a FADEC system. This has been demonstrated under the NASA-sponsored QUSEE program which has completed 175 hours of engine running with a digital control system. The FADEC program sponsored by the Navy has provided additional sensor refinements which will be demcustrated during engine testing in 1979. Additional sensor developments, however, are recommended on a longer term basis in order to reduce sensor cost and improve reliability and performance. In order to assure that sensors are compatible with the engine system space, weight, and environmental requirements, the engine manufacturer must provide technical guidance and surveillance. With the digital control system, the signal processing and conditioning should be considered as part of the control system and therefore sensors must be developed in concert with the FADEC system. For instance, pressure sensor linearizing and temperature compensation can now be performed cost competitively by software instead of select fit resistors as being demonstrated in the Navy FADEC program.

Speed and torque signals are frequency or phase related signals which can be converted to digital format without Analog to Digital (AD) conversion. Since these signals are of sufficient accuracy and response rate, additional development is not recommended.

The FADEC design senses WF feedback as metering valve position and VG feedback as an actuator position, GE's FADEC development, using linear variable phase transformers (LVPT) for position signals, provides an adequate base for position sensing. The LVPT transforms a position into a phase signal which can be conveniently handled by a digital system.

The NASA QCSEE program used analog pressure sensors, while the Navy FADEC program is demonstrating the feasibility of digital pressure transducers. In order to obtain the accuracies required in conventional engine control systems, the pressure sensors, either analog or digital, are very expensive. Therefore, future development of less-expensive digital pressure transducer technology is desired. As mentioned above, the development of specific transducers must be with control system development. This coordinates environmental requirements consistent with control schemes.

Present FADEC systems use analog temperature sensing devices. Conversion to digital temperature sensors is not currently practical; however, future developments could change this decision. The development of digital temperature sensors could reduce FADEC cost by eliminating the need for A-D conversion.

- 1. Magnetic Master Chip Detector: The T700 Master Chip Detector has been almost 100% effective in providing an early warning of impending OWP problems, primarily bearing problems, occurring during engine development and flight test. During flight test, no bearing failures were missed and no engines were removed because of false indications. However, as cited on page 22, many false or nuisance indications occurred caused by random manufacturing or assembly debris. Strict adherences to maintenance procedures identified these events as nonfailures but at the cost of flight delays and ground engine runs. A CIP program is underway in 1700 Engineering authorized by EPM #CIP E7 to locate or develop an improved device that will discriminate between nuisance and real incipient failure events. Because of the unique characteristics of the T700 engine, the capacitor discharge or "fuzz burner" type of chip detector, proven useful in other applications, is not applicable to this engine. In view of the on-going CIP chip detector program for the present T700 engine, no development program is required for an FADEC-equipped 1700 engine.
 - <u>Accelerometers</u>: There are no unique requirements for engine vibration sensing accelerometers for a FADEC-equipped 1700 engine. Miniaturized accelerometers are available with adequate output signal strength, frequency response and high temperature tolerance. Accelerometers with built-in charge amplifiers (a desirable feature) are under development, but are currently lacking in tolerance for the typical engine temperature environment. An improvement here would be desirable, but it is not a unique requirement for FADEC.

3. <u>ignition Sensor</u>: Fault detection and isclation of the ignition system can be partially accomplished us is done in the ATE IECM system by using induction coils around each ignition load. Sensing the characteristic or voltage (or current) rise versus time may enable some LRU fault detection and isolation to be accomplished. An analytical and testing program would be required to determine to what extent faults in the power supply, exciter input, output, leads or igniter plugs could be detected and isolated. Sensor design and gualification would fellow provided the fault isolating capability of the sensor was judged to be cost effective.

4. The following Table 17 shows the status of sensors required for FADEC/ D&CM system development.

TABLE 17. STATUS OF SENSORS REQUIRED FOR FADEC/I&CM		
Sensed Parameter	Type of Processing	Remarks
Torque	Digital	Current sensors are available with sufficient accuracy and acceptable cost
Speed	Digital	Current sensors are available with sufficient accuracy and acceptable cost
Position (WF and VG)	Digital	LVPT is adequate
Pressure	Analog Digital	Currently very expensive for accur- acy required by control concepts considered in this study
Temperature	Analog Digital	Currently used in FADEC s, tems Not currently available; development desirable to reduce system cost
Chip Detector	Digital	Development of discriminating de- tector desirable
Accelerometers	Annlog	Improvement in temperature sensi- tivity is desirable
Ignition Current	Analog	No sensor or sensor output char- acteristics available.

In summary, the current state of the art of sensors has been shown to be adequate to support future FADEC development. Two areas would benefit from general development in support of long-range FADEC goals:

- 1. Digital pressure transducer cost reduction without sacrifice of required accuracies, response and reliability.
- 2. Digital temperature sensor development covering the following required low and high temperature ranges.
 - a. Inlet sensor range is from -65° F to $+160^{\circ}$ F.
 - b. T4.5 range is -65° F to 1550° F.

No. of Concession, Name

While some basic work in both these areas is desired, specific sensor development should be completed as an integral part of the basic FADEC development, as different control system approaches can significantly change accuracy requirements.

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

CONCLUSIONS

- 1. LRU fault isolation by means of an electronic diagnostic system is considered feasible for the current T700 engine. However, it has not yet been established that the D&CM system to accomplish the diagnostics would be cost effective.
- 2. Fault isolation to the engine module level is feasible based on vibration, life usage and oil-wetted part diagnostics. Though modular performance fault isolation appears to be feasible, further analytical studies are required for verification.
- 3. The D&CM requirements for both module and LRU fault isolation for a FADEC-equipped T700 engine are simpler than for the current T700 engine. Further analytical and computer simulation studies are required to fully exploit the inherent diagnostic capabilities of the FADEC system.
- 4. Integration of D&CM functions into the FADEC system provides an opportunity to expand D&CM functions at an implicity lower cost and weight, as well as a greater reliability than in a standard hydromechanical/analog electrical control system. The FADEC system inherently offers a cost and weight saving because approximately 70% of the signals required for a D&CM system are already available for control purposes as opposed to the current T700 system where approximately 25% of the required signals are presently in the required electrical form. The FADEC system also provides a logical area for processing the D&CM signals not required by the control system, with the exception of vibrations, at a minimum increase in FADEC parts.
- 5. The FADEC system can accomplish the following D&CM functions efficiently:
 - L Engine history functions
 - 1) LOF counts

2) Hot part life

3) Engine hours

- b. Detection of failures of most control system sensors by using FICA.
- c. Detection of some control system failures by self-test.
- 6. Integration of the following D&CM functions is practical and is most cost effective when considered at FADEC design inception:
 - a. Performance checking for engine health (HIT checks).
 - b. Tracking of oil pressure vs NG to detect oil system problems.
 - c. Detection of low or high oil pressure, overtemperature, fuel or lube filter bypass and chip detection signal.
- 7. FICA not only indicates control sensor failure, but allows safe engine operation with any single sensor failure of NP, NG, PS3, T4.5, WFFB, and Q1. With the failure of any sensor, except T4.5, at least 97% power can be obtained. With the T4.5 sensor failed, at least 90% power can be obtained during T4.5 limiting, and this can be improved through FICA refinements. The system has also indicated satisfactory operation with multiple sensor failures.
- 8. In addition to the available sensed parameters, there are intermediate parameters calculated by FICA which are useful to the D&CM functions. FICA calculates 'T3 and T4.1 which can be used to estimate more accurately gas generator turbine blade temperatures. With this additional information and FADEC's computational power, potentially more accurate stress rupture calculations which are compatible with the FADEC system can be introduced.

9. Work completed on the D&CM system, including FADEC, provides a conceptual basis from which an integrated system could be designed. Preliminary life-cycle-cost estimates and fabrication and test of key system components could then be carried out.

10. Sensor state of the art is compatible with anticipated needs of future FADEC development; however, it is prudent to study further the potential for digital pressure transducer cost reduction and digital temperature sensor development. The current T700 CIP program to develop a magnetic master chip detector which would discriminate between a real failure event and a "nuisance event" should be considered as a potential sensor improvement. Also, engine-mounted accelerometers with built-in charge amplifiers which are more tolerant to the engine temperature environment require further improvement.

RECOMMENDATIONS

- 1. For the current T700 (non-FADEC) engine as well as for a T700 with a FADEC, the following steps are recommended:
 - a. Extend existing studies to select and evaluate an approach for performance isolation to the module level for the T700 engine.
 - b. Refine existing fault tree analysis for the T700 control system suitable for incorporation into an automated computational system.
 - c. Define an integrated fault tree analysis and diagnostic logic for each modulo and LRU and assess the fault isolation effectiveness.
 - d. Define the preliminary design of an automated computational fault isolation system to implement the fault tree analysis of
 (c) above. The design should be of sufficient detail to estimate size, weight, functional scope and cost effectiveness.
- 2. In addition to the above, the following steps are recommended for the FADEC-equipped T700:
 - Design, fabricate and test an engine-mounted digital history recorder. Such a program will:
 - 1) Demonstrate that HIT check, LC F, stress rupture, and engine hours can be calculated with an engine-mounted computer.

- 2) Provide a device useful to the T700 program by expanding current history recorder functions.
- 3) Complete a logical step in FADEC-D&CM technology development and provide the potential for early field testing of an advanced concept.
- b. Initiate a study to increase the FADEC system's ability to detect and provide corrective action for control system failures not detected by FICA or self-test. Such a system would maximize control system reliability, increase D&CM capability, and minimize the need for a hydromechanical backup system.
- c. Initiate investigations suggested in this report in order to:
 - 1) Improve stress-rupture calculations consistent with FADEC parameters and computational capability.
 - 2) Refine FICA designs to include the effect of bleed and variable geometry.
 - 3) Determine the necessity for measuring both PO and PT2 within FICA.
 - 4) Determine the procedure for handling stalls within FICA.
 - 5) Evaluate the potential for determining engine health from Kalman filter residuals.
 - 6) Improve low cycle fatigue measurement system accuracy by developing algorithms (logic flowcharts) for counting NG speed excursions and for computing LCF on the basis of "Master Cycles" which combine the effect of partial as well as major speed cycles.

3. In the area of sensor development, undertake preliminary studies to datermine the potential for digital pressure transducer cost reduction and the practicality of digital temperature sensor development in conjunction with a FADEC-DECM development program.
REFERENCES

1 PRIME ITEM DEVELOPMENT SPECIFICATION (PIDS) FOR T700-GE-700 TURBOSHAFT ENGINE, General Electric Co., Lynn, MA., U.S. Army Specification No. AMC-CP-2222-02000A, page 213.

- 2 T700 BI-MONTHLY RELIABILITY PROGRESS REPORT, General Electric Co., Lynn, MA., U.S. Army Contract No. DAAJ01-72-C-0381, CDRL Item A060, 20 May 1974.
- 3 AVIATION UNIT AND INTERMEDIATE MAINTENANCE INSTRUCTION, General Electric Co., Lynn, MA., T700-GE-700 Engine, TM55-2840-243-23, 31 May 1978.
- 4 Rosen, M. M., T700-GE-700 ENGINE DESIGN REPORT, Condition Monitoring and Diagnostics, General Electric Co., Lynn, MA., Aircraft Engine Group, Report R78AEG043, Volume 8, 28 June 1976.
- 5 Jordan, H.J., F404 ENGINE CONDITION MONITORING SYSTEM (ECMS) STUDY, General Electric Co., Lynn, MA., N77AEG028, 15 April 1977.
- 6 Salt, T. L., "Evaluation of Flight Mission Severity in Cumulative Damage", R & M Proceedings, Los Angeles, CA., 1971, AIAA/SAE/ASME, 10th Annual Conference.

7 Power, E. M., "Cycle Counting Methods and the Development of Block Load Fatigue Programs", SAE paper 780102, 3/27/78.

Leever, R.C., "A User's View of Fatigue Life Predictions", SAE paper 780105, 3/27/78.

Kalman, R., "A New Approach to Linear Flitering and Prediction Froblems", Transactions ASME J. Basic Engineering, Vol. 52, pp 34-35, March 1960.

10 Spang, H. A., and Corley, R. C., "Failure Detection and Correction for Turbofan Engine". General Electric Co., Lynn. MA., TIS Report No. 77 CRD159, June 1977.

11 Gelb et al, Applied Optimal Estimation, the MIT Press, 1974.

<u>REFERENCES</u> – Continued

12 Safanov, M.G., and Athans, M., <u>Robustness and Computational Aspects</u> of Nonlinear and Stochastic Estimators and <u>Regulators</u>, MIT Technical Report No. ESL-P-741, April 1977.

13 Anderson, T.W., An Introduction to <u>Multivariable Statistical Analysis</u>, J. Wiley and Sons, N.Y., 1958.

14 Fossard, A., Multivariable System Control, North-Holland, 1977.

145

GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Engine Parameters

1.20

SHP	Shaft Horsepower
T3	Compressor Discharge Temperature, Gas
T4, 1	Gas Generator Turbine Inlet Temperature, Gas
NG	Gas Generator Speed
NP	Power Turbine Speed
T4.5	Gas Generator Turbine Discharge Temperature, Measured
T4.5G	T4, 5 Gas Temperature
PS3	Compressor Discharge Static Pressure
Q1	Torque (Engine No. 1)
Q2	Torque (Engine No. 2)
T2	Compressor Inlet Temperature
PT2	Compressor Inlet Total Pressure
PL	Lube Oil Pressure
TL	Lube Oil Temperature
FL BP	Lube Oil Filter Bypass
ν	Vibration
MCD	Master Chip Detector
AI	Anti-Ice
WFD	Fuel Flow Demand
LDS	Load Domand Signal
MPD	NP Demand
Ö\$	Overspeed
CD	Customor Bleed
WF FB	Fuel Flow Food-Back
VG FB	Variable Geometry Feed-Back
PAS	Power Available Spindle Signal
FWF BP	Fuel Filtor Bypage
VGD	Variable Geometry Domand
РО	Pressure Altitudo (Amblent)
IISP/T	Inlet Particle Separator Blower Delta Pressure or
	Temperature
OAT	Outsido Air Temusrature

GLOSSARY OF TERMS - Continued

FADEC-D&CM System Components

HMU	Hydromechanical Unit	
D&CM	Diagnostics and Condition Monitoring	
ECU	Electrical Control Unit	
FICA	Failure Indication and Corrective Action	
FADEC	Full Authority Digital Electronic Control	
GSE	Ground Support Equipment	

D&CM Generated Signals

語を言うでは読みません

ESM	Engine Status Messages (warning, caution, advisory,	
	failure, exceedance, and maintenance)	
EHD	Engine Historical Data (performance, trending, and	
	life used indices)	
FC	Failure Code	
T4B	Gas Generator Turbine Blade Temperature	

Miscellaneous

	LVPT	Linear Variable Phase Transformer
	TM	Torque Motor
	SBV	Starting Bleed Valve
	LRU	Line Replaceable Unit
	CC	Cockpit Commands (data display, record, ECU disable)
,	CITS	Contral Integraled Test System
a 4	MATS	Military Air Transport Service
	<u>1</u> S	Laplace Operator
	f()	Function of
•:	۵	Delta (change in)
	AD	Analog to Digital (Conversion)
• .	B	Beta (Relicopter Collective Pitch)
	IMI	Torque Motor Current
	EMR	Engine History Recorder
• •	AGB	Accessory Cearbox
, e ji e ji	D/B	Building Block
 	път	High Pressure Turbine
	LPT	Low Pressure Turbine
	VG	Variable Vane Position
	ALT	Alternator Powor - ECU

GLOSSARY OF TERMS - Continued

SOAPSpectrometric Oil Analysis ProgramAPUAuxiliar., Power UnitOWPOil-Wetted PartsFDFault DetectionFIFault IsolationCGEKFConstant Gain Extended Kalman FilterLCCLife-Cycle Crst

Computer-Generated Plots

Plot Symbol Equivalent Symbol		Name	
P83E1	PS3	Compressor Discharge Static Pressure	
Y PS3		FICA Generated PS3	
PCNP1		Percent Power Turbine Speed	
V PNP1		FICA Generated PCNP1	
PCNG1		Percent Gas Generator Speed	
V PNG1		FICA Generated PCNG1	
T4SEL1	T4 , 5	Measured Gas Temperature	
VTAGS		FICA Generated T45EL1	
T45E1	T4. 5G	Gas Cenerator Turbino Discharge Temperature	
VT45		FICA Generated T45E1	
TEMP		Indication of Turbine Inlet Temperature	
WITE MOD		FICA Generated TEMP	
1 1 SIGHE VÆ 13 A 17		Sensor Failure Indicator	
T DE AND	<u>A</u> t	Shaft Toraue	
* * \$2774 £	~ Z *	Gas Torque	
A ANNOS A MANCE		FICA Generated TROTI	
1. 4 <i>81</i> 1173344	WD	Fuel Flow	
W F DAL 1993/122	11 F 11 F	Fuel Flow Feed-back	
ZANY E NAROSANAN	W L 2 1 1	FIGA Generated ZWF	
IZWF		Theomometer Angle proportional	
dynamu		to applied load (equivalent to collective pitch for a heli-	

148

copter)

12955-76